Public Document Pack
Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 21st November, 2019
6.30 pm
Meeting Room A, Blackburn Town Hall

AGENDA
1.

Welcome and Apologies

2.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Minutes of Previous Meeting

3.

Declaration of Interest
Declaration of Interest Form

Material Considerations
4.

6

7-8

Planning Application Summary
Planning Application Summary

4.1

3-5

9 - 10

Planning Application 10-19-0275 & 10-19-0921
St Stephen’s Conservative Club, Robinson Street,
Blackburn, BB1 5PE.
11 - 39

4.2

Planning Application 10-19-0842
St Barnabas Warehouse, Watery Lane, Darwen, BB3 2EB
40 - 52

4.3

Planning Application 10-19-0843
Land to the Rear of St Barnabas Warehouse, Watery Lane,
Darwen, BB3 2EB
53 - 67

4.4

Planning Application 10-19-0939

Brownlow Farm, Pleasington Lane, Pleasington, BB2 5JE
68 - 75

PART II - THE PRESS AND PUBLIC MAY BE EXCLUDED
DURING CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS
5.

Enforcement Report
Enforcement Report

76 - 80

Date Published: Wednesday, 13 November 2019
Denise Park, Chief Executive

Agenda Item 2

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
Thursday, 17 October 2019

PRESENT – Councillors, Councillor David Smith (Chair), Akhtar, Casey, Khan,
Khonat, Hardman, Slater, Oates, Riley, Pearson, Browne, Akhtar (substitute
for Hussain) and Mahmood (substitute for Jan-Virmani).
OFFICERS - Gavin Prescott (Development Manager), Michael Green and
Safina Alam
RESOLUTIONS
61

Welcome and Apologies
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.
Apologies were received from Councillors Jan-Virmani and I Hussain.

62

Minutes of Previous Meeting
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 19th
September 2019 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

63

Declaration of Interest
RESOLVED - There were no Declarations of Interest received.

64

Planning Applications for Determination
The Committee considered reports of the Director of Growth and Development
detailing the planning application.
In considering the applications, the Committee took into account
representations or submissions provided by individuals with the Officers
answering pointed raise during discussion thereon.

64.1

Planning Application 10-19-0317
Speakers – Rachael Graham, Applicant (In support) Neil Slater, Ward
Councillor (Objecting)
Applicant – Persimmon Homes and Northern Trust
Location and Proposed Development – Land at Spring Meadows, Darwen.
Full planning application for erection of 168 no. residential dwellings,
associated infrastructure and public open space.
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
Following discussion of the Application, a Name Vote was requested

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 17th October, 2019

Page 3

For – Councillors; Smith, H Akhtar, Casey, P Akhtar, Mahmood, Z Khan,
Khonat, Oates, and Riley.
Against – Councillors; Browne, Hardman, Pearson and Ja Slater.
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report and a Section 106 Agreement relating to the payment of financial
contributions which relate to the following;
(a)
(b)
(c)

£150,000 as a contribution towards the provision of affordable
housing in the borough.
£150,000 as a contribution towards delivery of the Darwen East
Distributor Corridor highway improvements
£1,500,000 as a contribution towards additional primary school
places in East Darwen

Should the S106 agreement not be completed within 6 months of the date of
this resolution, the Head of Service for Planning with have delegated powers
to refuse the application.
65

Revised Validation Checklist for Planning Application Submissions
A report was submitted to engage the Committee in the review of the Council’s
adopted Local Validation Checklist (LVC) listing the criteria and requirements
for the formal submission of planning applications. In particular, to brief the
Committee and the proposed change to the LVC and, to ensure that quality
planning applications, agents and Officers alike on the validation requirements
of planning applications.
It was noted that Since 2008 Local Planning Authorities have been required to
adopt and publish local validation requirements - a local list, which set out
what information, over and above the national requirements (i.e. application
form, plans, fee, ownership certificate etc.), was necessary to accompany a
planning application before it was registered by the Council as “valid”. The
Council’s first Local List was adopted in 2008 and was last reviewed and
updated in 2012.
RESOLVED – That the consultation responses be noted and that the Local
List of criteria for the validation of planning applications, as set out in the
Appendix of the report, be endorsed and adopted by the Council.

66

Response to DCMS Consultation - Reforms to permitted development
rights to support 5G deployment
A report was submitted to inform the Members of the Council’s response and
views on the Government’s proposals to amend the permitted development
rights in England to grant planning permission for mobile infrastructure to
support deployment of 5G and extend mobile coverage particularly in rural
areas, and the circumstances in which it would be appropriate.
The Committee was informed that a recent report to the House of Lords Select
Committee on the Rural Economy in April 2019 found that better mobile
infrastructure had the potential to transform the rural economy by enabling

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 17th October, 2019

Page 4

small businesses to grow, recruit, and retain staff and make it easier for
people to work from home. 5G networks were also crucial to drive productivity
and growth across the sectors.
Discussions took place to agree the responses to the questions set in the
Consultation paper, and it was agreed that the responses should form the
formal views of the Council.
RESOLVED – That the responses be agreed and the report be noted.
67

Appeals Monitoring Report
Members were presented with an update of recently decided appeals since
the last monitoring report in April 2019. The appeals were determined during
the period 18th April 2019 to 4th October 2019, with 3 appeals being dismissed
and one was a split decision.
The Committee heard that the update would be presented to the Cross Party
Working Member Group at the meeting on the 15th October 2019.
RESOLVED – That the update be noted.

68

Enforcement Update Report
A report was submitted to Members with an overview on Planning
Enforcement matters. The list of cases included in the report was in the main a
list of cases where formal enforcement action was being taken and was not a
list of every case, complaint or enquiry being dealt with.
RESOLVED – That the Committee note the report.

Signed: ………………………………………………….
Date: …………………………………………………….
Chair of the meeting
at which the minutes were confirmed

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 17th October, 2019

Page 5

Agenda Item 3
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA

Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest
at the appropriate point on the agenda.
MEETING:

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE

DATE:
AGENDA ITEM NO.:
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF):
NATURE OF INTEREST:

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate)

SIGNED :
PRINT NAME:
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer)

Page 6

X:\Planning & Highways\2017\Misc\Declaration of Interest\Declaration of Interest Form.doc

Material Consideration

“Material Considerations” are not limited to matters relating to amenity and can
cover a range of considerations, in regard to public or private interests, provided that
there is some relationship to the use and development of land.
Where it is decided that a consideration is material to the determination of a planning
application the courts have held that the assessment of weight is a matter for
planning judgement by the planning authority, rather than the court. Materiality is a
matter of law for the Court, weight is for the decision maker. Accordingly it is for the
Committee to assess the weight to be attached to each material consideration, but if
a Council does not take account of a material consideration or takes account of an
immaterial consideration then the decision is vulnerable to challenge in the courts.
By section 38(6) of the Planning & Compensation Act 2004 Act every planning
decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan (taken as a whole)
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policies and guidance
contained in the hierarchy of planning documents are important material
considerations and the starting point for the Committee in its assessment of
development proposals and most decisions are usually taken in line with them.
However, the Committee is legally obliged to consider all material matters in
determining a planning application and this means that some decisions will not follow
published policy or guidance. In other words, the Committee may occasionally depart
from published policy when it considers this is outweighed by other factors and can
be justified in the circumstances of the particular case. Similarly, in making a
decision where there are competing priorities and policies the Committee must
exercise its judgement in determining the balance of considerations
The following provides a broad guide of what may and may not be material, though
as with any broad guidance there will on occasions be exceptions

MATERIAL:

NOT MATERIAL:

Policy (national, regional & local)

The identity of the applicant

development plans in course of
preparation
Views of consultees
Design
Visual impact
Privacy/overbearing/amenity impacts
Daylight/sunlight

Superceded development plans and
withdrawn guidance
Land ownership
Private Rights (e.g. access)
Restrictive covenants
Property value
Competition (save where it promotes a
vital and viable town centre)
Loss of a private view
“moral issues”
“Better” site or use”
Change from previous scheme
Enforcement issues
The need for the development (in most
circumstances)

Noise, smell, pollution
Access/traffic /accessibility
Health and safety
Ecology, landscape
Fear of Crime
Economic impact & general economic
conditions
Planning history/related decisions

Page 7

Cumulative impact
Need (in some circumstances – e.g. green
belt)
Impacts upon and provision of open/amenity
space
existing use/permitted development rights/fall
back
retention of existing use/heritage issues
fear of setting a precedent
composite or related developments
Off-site benefits which are related to or are
connected with the development
In exceptional circumstances the availability
of alternative sites
Human Rights Act 1998 & Equality
Before deciding a planning application members need to carefully consider an application against the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.
Protocol 1 of Article 1, and Article 8 confer(s) a right of respect for a person’s private and family life,
their possessions, home, other land; and business assets.
Article 6, the applicants (and those third parties, including local residents, who have made
representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full
consideration to their representation, and comments,
In taking account of all material considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Core
Strategy and saved polices of the Unitary Development Plan, the Head of Planning and Transport
has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the applicant(s)/objector(s)/resident(s)
and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that might be affected may be interfered with but that
interference is proportionate, in accordance with the law and justified by being in the public interest
and on the basis of the planning merits of the development proposal. Furthermore he believes that
any restriction on these rights posed by the approval of an application is proportionate to the wider
benefits of approval and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.
Other duties have to be taken into account in determining planning applications for example the
promotion of measures to reduce crime, the obligation not to act in a discriminatory manner and
promote equality etc.
NB: Members should also be aware that each proposal is treated on its own merits!
Reasons for Decision
If members decide to go against officer recommendations then it is their responsibility to clearly set
out their reasons for doing so, otherwise members should ask for the application to be deferred in
order that a further report is presented setting out the background to the report, clarifying the reasons
put forward in the debate for overriding the officer recommendation; the implications of the decision
and the effect on policy; what conditions or agreements may be needed; or just to seek further
information.
If Members move a motion contrary to the recommendations then members must give reasons before
voting upon the motion. Alternatively members may seek to defer the application for a further report.
However, if Members move a motion to follows the recommendation but the motion is lost. In these
circumstances then members should be asked to state clearly their reasons for not following the
recommendations or ask that a further report be presented to the next meeting

Page 8

Agenda Item 4

BwD Council - Development Control
General Reporting
REPORT NAME: Committee Agenda.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
BACKGROUND PAPERS
There is a file for each planning application containing application forms, consultations,
representations, Case Officer notes and other supporting information.
Gavin Prescott, Development Manager – Ext 5694.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION: The extent of neighbour notification is shown on the location plans which
accompany each report. Where neighbours are notified by individual letter, their properties are marked
with a dot. Where a site notice has been posted, its position is shown with a cross.
PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION Date: 21/11/2019
Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

St Stephens Conservative Club
Robinson Street
Blackburn
BB1 5PE

Little Harwood & Whitebirk

Application Type
10/19/0275
Valli Homes Ltd
3 Valligate
Blackburn
BB1 5ND

Full Planning Application for Conversion of Grade II Listed Conservative Club to form 3No. Dwelling houses and the Construction of 11No.
New Houses including associated parking and garden areas
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/19/0842
G & J Properties Ltd
454 Darwen Road
Bromley Cross
Bolton

St Barnabus Warehouse
Watery Lane
Darwen
BB3 2EB

West Pennine

Full Planning Application for Proposed conversion of warehouse to 8no two bedroom apartments
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/19/0843
Milltom Builders Ltd
454 Darwen Road
Bromley Cross
Bolton

Land to the Rear of St Barnabus Warehouse
Watery Lane
Darwen
BB3 2EB

West Pennine

Full Planning Application for Proposed development of 6no new three bedroom dwellings
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Execution Time: 12 minute(s), 56 second(s)

Page 9 Printed by ADMMXI\Nadia_Saddique2 on 12/11/2019 09:06:01
Page 1 of 2

Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

St Stephen's Conservative Club
Robinson Street
Blackburn
BB1 5PE

Little Harwood & Whitebirk

Application Type
10/19/0921
Valli Homes LTD
3 Valligate
Blackburn
BB1 5ND

Listed Building Application for Conversion of Grade II Listed Conservative Club to form 3No. Dwellings
RECOMMENDATION: Consent

10/19/0939
Mr Bretherton
Brownlow Farm
Pleasington lane
Pleasington
Blackburn

Brownlow Farm
Pleasington Lane
Pleasington
Blackburn
BB2 5JE

Livesey With Pleasington

Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material Amendment for Variation of Condition No.10 pursuant to planning application 10/19/0574
-"Demolition of outbuildings, conversion of barn to provide an extension to Brownlow Farmhouse, erection of attached garage, and
construction of new footpath, road frontage wall and electric gates and retention of porch." - Addition of 5 rooflights and height of the proposed
house raised to be in line with the adjoining barn - Retrospective
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Execution Time: 12 minute(s), 56 second(s)

Page 10Printed by ADMMXI\Nadia_Saddique2 on 12/11/2019 09:06:01
Page 2 of 2

Agenda Item 4.1
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan Nos: 10/19/0275 and 10/19/0921

Proposed development: Full Planning Application & Listed Building Consent for
Conversion of Grade II Listed Conservative Club to form 3No. Dwelling houses and
the construction of 11No. new houses including associated parking and garden areas
Site address:
St Stephens Conservative Club
Robinson Street
Blackburn
BB1 5PE
Applicant: Valli Homes Ltd
Ward: Little Harwood & Whitebirk

13

9

24
ST
RE
ET

1

207

1

BE
AR
DS
W
O
RT
H

6

ST
RE
ET

A
V
EN
U
E

34

W
AR
RI
NG
TO
N

G
R
EE
N
H
EA
D

Mustafa Desai
Pat McFall
Abdul Patel

30
6

27

17

14

to

10

on
ns
Be

e
us
Ho

14

Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

20
5

1

5

2

4

3

BR
OA
DF
OL
D

23

12

10

18
9

28
2

1

AV
EN
UE

19
1

34

122.5m

15

T
EE
R
ST

RO
AD

2

2

N
SO
EN
B

29
4

40

1

18
1

Co
m
Ce mun
ntr ity
e

3

W
AR
EH
AM

11

ST
RE
ET

El Sub Sta

27
2

PH

26
2

Bowling Green
18
1

Crow Tree

24
6
to
24
8

122.5m

17
1

5

25
0
Cottage

24
4

Club

ST
RE
ET

23
6

VA
LL
IG
AT
ES

15
9

RO
BI
NS
ON

2

23
4

12

Little Harwood
Childrens Centre

14
9

23
2
24

Sh
elt
er

1

123.7m
LB

23
2a

23
0

2
ST

PO

4

ST
EP
HE
N'S

11

AV
EN
UE

21

ET
RE
ST

1

n's
he
ep
St
St

N
SO
N
BI
RO

22
0

14
24

C
E
of

3

45

y
ar
im
Pr
ol
ho
Sc

13

ST
2

BE
TH
EL

ST
EP
HE
N'S

RO
AD

23

Page 11

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to recommended conditions.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1.1 The proposal will deliver a quality housing scheme which will enhance the
external fabric of the Listed Building, its historic garden setting, protect 3 of
the 4 protected trees and widen the choice of 3-bed family housing in the
Borough. It supports the Borough’s planning strategy for housing growth as
set out in the Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2.
2.1.2 The works to the listed building itself are considered to be positive and will
enhance the buildings character. Providing a sustainable new uses for
historic buildings is important.
2.1.3 Although the proposed new houses will further surround the building over and
above existing modern development and as such will impact upon the current
well-established view of the Building from Robinson Street. It is however felt
that the loss of significance is likely to be slight given the benefits in delivering
a new and viable use for the building which includes restoration of its external
fabric and relaying of the historic gardens on the existing bowling green.
These enhancements should be given significant weight in the planning
balance. The slight harm to the setting is more than offset by the benefits the
proposal delivers
2.1.4 The development will not adversely affect surrounding residents and provides
a suitable level of internal floor space and off-road parking provision. It is
noted that three of the new properties nearest to the southern gable of the
listed building would be within 6.5m and 13.4m at their closet to the listed
building thus providing limited rear amenity space and which would have an
overbearing and oppressive impact for future occupants of plots 9, 10 and 11.
However, due to the gable elevation of the listed building orientated away
from the rear of the new properties, the effect of the close proximity of the
building would be reduced. However, the over-riding consideration weighing
in favour of the application is the significant enhancements proposed to the
listed building, formally Little Harwood Hall, and its historic garden setting,
outweighs the harm caused in this instance.
2.1.5 The proposal is also satisfactory from a technical point of view, with all issues
relative to the assessment having been addressed through the application, or
capable of being controlled or mitigated through the recommended planning
conditions.
3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

Page 12

3.1.1 The application site comprises the existing Grade II Listed building formally
known as St Stephens Conservative Club, Robinson Street, Blackburn and its
associated land.
3.1.2 The grade II Listed property is a detached 3 storey building, originally a Manor
House which has been altered a number of times throughout its history.
Adjacent to the property is the associated land which was previously used as
a bowling green and car parking for the Conservative Club.
3.1.3 There are four Category B1 trees surrounding the existing Bowling Green that
are protected under the Little Harwood Group Tree Preservation Order (TPO).
3.1.4 The existing property is set back 26m from the roadside and sits within an
urban setting. The immediate vicinity of the site is characterised by residential
development. The site is bounded by a number of different architectural
styles. To the north - west of the application site lies a group of semi-detached
properties of typical 1960/1970 appearance. To the south and east of the
application site lays a cluster of terrace properties, primarily built with red
brick, sandstone and grey slate roofing.
3.1.5 The application site lies 30m off Whalley Old Road, the main road through
Little Harwood. This road consists of a number of residential and commercial
properties and acts as a spine for the local community providing shops and
amenities to the surrounding, primarily residential area. The only exceptions
to this residential neighbourhood is Little Harwood Children’s Centre and St
Stephens C of E Primary school, both located on Robinson Street to the south
east of the site.
3.1.6 The development site covers an area of approximately 0.56(ha) and is largely
located in Flood Zone 1, Low Probability according to the Environment
Agency Flood Risk Map. A small portion to the south of the site falls within
Flood Zone 2.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 It is proposed to convert the Listed St Stephens Conservative Club to form
3No. Dwellings and to erect 11No. new build dwellings on the existing car
park.
3.2.2 It is the intention of the proposed development to strip back the Grade II
Listed building to a more historic footprint by removing modern additions and
provide three 3-bed dwellings within the former Conservative Club.
3.2.3 The eleven new dwellings are proposed to mirror the local vernacular in
materials and design. The new houses consisting of 4 pairs of semi-detached
and single block of 3 terraces would be located on the former car park to the
south.
3.2.4 As a result of the proposed development, there will be a total gain of 14No
new properties available to the community of Little Harwood. All of the new
build properties would be 3-bed dwellings of 3 varying house types, providing

Page 13

a variety of different layouts to suit different buyers. The development also
provides private and communal green space for its residents.
3.2.5 The proposed materials for the 11No. New dwellings in the development
would compromise a mixture of Sand Stone, Brickwork and Render is all
prominent in the area. The new dwellings will incorporate red brickwork and
sand stone quoins, cills and lintels.
3.2.6 Parking provision is to be provided on the site, with 2 No spaces per property
and 2 No additional guest spaces added to the new courtyard formed on the
former bowling green. As initially submitted a parking area over the existing
bowling green was proposed, however, due to concerns relating to the impact
on the setting of the listed building, the majority of the existing bowling green
is to be utilised as green space and communal garden area, with an area
nearest to the building laid to parking.
3.2.7 Access to the site will be via the existing site entrance, reconfigured as
required to form kerb edgings, tarmac access road and associated visibility
splays of 2.4m x 30m.
3.3
Development Plan
3.3.1 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – “Site Allocations and Development Management Policies”. In
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.2 Core Strategy:
 Policy CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
 Policy CS5 – Locations for New Housing
 Policy CS6 – Housing Targets
 Policy CS7 – Types of Housing
 Policy CS16 – Form and Design of New Development
 Policy CS17 – Built and Cultural Heritage
 Policy CS19 – Green Infrastructure
 Policy CS21: Mitigation of Impacts / Planning Gain
3.3.3 Local Plan Part 2:
 Policy 2 - The Inner Urban Area
 Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
 Policy 8 – Development and People
 Policy 9 – Development and the Environment
 Policy 11 – Design
 Policy 12 – Developer Contributions
 Policy 18 – Housing Mix
 Policy 39 – Heritage
 Policy 40 – Integrating Green Infrastructure & Ecological Networks with
New Development
 Policy 47 – The Effect of Development on Public Services
3.3.4 Supplementary Planning Documents/ Guidance

Page 14





Residential Design Guide SPD
Green Infrastructure & Ecological Networks SPD
Heritage SPG

3.4

Other Material Considerations
 Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990, as amended
 National Planning Policy Framework, updated February 2019
 Planning Practice Guidance, updated March 2019

3.5

Assessment
Principle of development

3.5.1 The principle of the development is considered under the Blackburn with
Darwen Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management
Policies; particularly Policy 9 – Development and the Environment, Core
Strategy Policies CS1, CS5, CS6, CS8 and CS19.
3.5.2 The site lies within the defined Urban Boundary; in accordance with Core
Strategy Policy CS1, and Local Plan Part 2 Policy 1, which set out the
principle that the preferred location for new development will be within the
urban area. The site is considered to be in a sustainable location and is close
to services and amenities in Little Harwood District Centre close by on
Whalley Old Road.
3.5.3 Proposed house types consist of an appropriate mix, in response to the
defining character of the area, and in accordance with Core Strategy aims and
objectives of delivering a wider choice of quality family homes
3.5.4 It is recognised that the Bowling Green associated with the former use of the
building as a Conservative Club. However, the Bowling Green has not been
used since April 2018.

Affordable Housing and Planning Contributions
3.5.5 In accordance with the requirements of Local Plan Part 2, Policy 18,
affordable housing is normally to be provided on site as part of a mix with
family housing; in appropriate circumstances it is instead to be provided
through a financial contribution.
3.5.6 Compensation is also sought for the loss of the bowling green, in
compliance with Local Plan Part 2, Policy 12.
3.5.7 In setting the level of any financial contribution, the Council takes into
account the total contribution liability incurred by developments arising
from all policy and site specific requirements. Its objective is to ensure
that the overall level of contribution required will allow developments to
remain viable, wherever this is compatible with securing essential

Page 15

works that are fundamental to the acceptability of the proposal.
3.5.8 In this regard, the applicant has submitted a Viability Report which has been
independently assessed. Development within the footprint of the listed
building alone would not provide a viable scheme, prohibiting re-development
and allowing the deterioration of the building to grow over time, as the building
continues to deteriorate. It is, therefore, necessary to advance a high quality
development on the car park area of the proposed application site. Whilst an
area of open space will be lost, this concern is adequately mitigated by the
length of time the bowling green has laid unused and the significant
enhancements to both the external fabric of the listed building and the former
garden area of Little Harwood Hall, and for these reasons no contributions are
required.
Impact on the listed building and its setting
3.5.9 The first consideration in the assessment of this application is the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Section 66(1) of the Act
states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for
development that affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning
authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses. Recent High Court judgements identify the need to give
considerable weight and importance to this duty.
3.5.10 St. Stephen’s Conservative Club is Little Harwood Hall, the manorial house of
Little Harwood manor and township. It comprises a seventeenth century
south-facing façade and a north facing eighteenth century façade. This is a
Palladian reworking of the original seventeenth century rear. It created a polite
Georgian front originally overlooking picturesque grounds, as was popular in
the eighteenth century. 1730s or 1780s have been suggested as dates for the
façade. However, as it was rendered and lined out around 1900, it is difficult
to say which with certainty.
3.5.11 The key heritage issues to consider relate to the proposed change of use and
whether this causes harm to the significance of the listed asset and whether
the proposed development of the new houses will harm its historic setting.
3.5.12 The significance of the heritage asset lies in its retained aesthetic appeal
(building form and appearance). It is accepted that the wider setting is
enhanced by the adjacent cottage, Coach House and section of curved
garden wall which lie north of the site and the bowling green – part of Little
Harwood Hall’s historic garden – which lies to the North-East of the building.
The interior of the building has been hugely altered by its previous use as a
Conservative Club and, with the exception of the unoccupied roof space, and
is of little heritage value.
3.5.13 Through the course of the application, and pre-application discussions, the
repair and restoration of the external envelope of the property by removing the
modern additions, and re-instating the historic Jacobean façade frontage on

Page 16

the south-east elevation facing towards the primary school to reflect the
frontage when the building was used as Little Harwood Hall have been
secure. Thesewill significantly enhance the buildings character and
appearance. Such works will need to be secured via suitable Condition(s).
Ideally all the external fabric repairs should be concluded prior to any new
development taking place.
3.5.14 Internally whilst the subdivision into 3 properties will impact, to some degree,
on the historic significance of the building, given its low significance the
alterations proposed are considered to be acceptable.
3.5.15 Overall, the works to the listed building are considered to be positive and will
enhance the buildings character. Providing a sustainable new uses for
historic buildings is important and this is rightly recognised in both National
and Local planning policy. The scheme in this respect accords with the NPPF
and Local Development Plan.
Impact on the setting of listed building
3.5.16 Historic England’s advice on setting is contained in its Planning Note 3
(second edition) entitled ‘The Setting of Heritage Assets’. This describes the
setting as being the surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced
and explains that this may be more extensive than its immediate curtilage and
need not be confined to areas which have public access. Whilst setting is
often expressed by reference to visual considerations it is also influenced by
the historic relationships between buildings and places and how views allow
the significance of the asset to be appreciated.
3.5.17 The applicants Heritage Assessment shows that the bowling green formed an
important part of the historic setting to Little Harwood Hall and is rightly
retained as part of the amended scheme.
3.5.18 The use (and significance in relation to the setting) of the land to the south
and east is less well defined and has undoubtedly been compromised by
development of the area over the last 100 years or so. Part of the grounds can
be seen on the large scale 1848 1:1046 OS map. Immediately outside the
north façade, was a lawned area sheltered by a belt of trees. It included a
serpentine approach road, a small rustic pond and a crescent-shaped planting
bed or perhaps another pond. A subsequent 1:500 map of 1893 shows the
grounds being eaten up by cottage development but the area outside the main
façade survived and a large informal shrub planting bed had been added,
which is also shown on the sketch. This screened the view of the terrace of
cottages to the north. Behind the shrub planting is a winding path linking the
cottages to the stables and servants quarters.
3.5.19 As a consequence, for a short period probably between1850 to 1890, the
wider green spaces of the Georgian garden had become restricted in extent
but more intimate in scale, screening the views of surrounding development.
The manor house overlooked a picturesque Georgian landscape garden
enhanced by Victorian shrub planting. The grounds declined shortly

Page 17

afterwards and appear to be in decline on the map of 1893 and possibly in the
sketch also.
3.5.20 In the 1700s, the Jacobean interior of the house would have been reordered
to face northwards to the Georgian garden. However, this interior was swept
away in the early twentieth century when the house became St. Stephen’s
Conservative Club and heavily altered. It was altered again much later when
the high quality Victorian interior was steadily modernised in a low cost way
and ugly extensions were added.
3.5.21 Although the grounds to the hall had been much reduced when the hall
became the Conservative Club, the landscaped garden in front of the façade
was reworked into a bowling green and the perimeter squared off accordingly.
In this way, the original Palladian concept of a dignified symmetrical façade
overlooking a green sward surrounded by mature trees was preserved, albeit
in a formal rather than informal manner. This explains why the square bowling
green is not perfectly aligned to the front of the hall. Close observation shows
that the bowling green was aligned to the edge of the picturesque drive and
lawn, which were not square to the house.
3.5.22 The proposals initially sort to utilise the bowling green for a circular parking
area. That parking area was considered to cause substantial harm to the
green and the setting of the listed building by turning it into a highly prominent
formal car park that would have dominated the garden and the views to and
from the listed building. The overriding legal requirement with regard to listed
buildings would not be met by this proposal and thus, in understanding the
history of the bowling green, the applicants were invited to amend the
proposals by limiting the area of the bowling green to be used for car parking
and turning the rest into a well landscaped garden area. This request has
duly been met and is a substantial benefit to character of the listed building
and weighs favourably in the planning balance.
3.5.23 It is considered that the immediate setting of the listed building is significantly
compromised by the car park, although officers are mindful that because it is
open land the building is a highly visible and prominent landmark within the
immediate vicinity. The proposed new houses will further surround the
building and as such will impact upon the current well-established view. It is
however felt that the loss of significance is likely to be slight given the benefits
in delivering a new and viable use for the building which includes restoration
of its external fabric and relaying of the historic gardens on the existing
bowling green should be given significant weight in the planning balance. The
slight harm to the setting is more than offset by the benefits the proposal
delivers and in this respect the proposal meets the statutory duty to preserve.
3.5.24 NPPF Paragraph 193 states that great weight should be given to the
conservation of heritage assets regardless of the level of harm. High Court
decisions have been clear that a lower level of harm does not equate to a
lesser objection given the principle duty under the Act is to ‘preserve’.
3.5.25 When taken as a whole, the proposals will not cause any harm to the special
character of the heritage asset. As such, as identified above, this would meet

Page 18

the statutory test to ‘preserve’ and would accord with the NPPF and policies
contained in the Local Plan.
3.5.26 To secure the benefits provided by the proposal it is suggested that suitable
Conditions be applied to any PP/LBC requiring the submission of further
details relating to external repairs and reinstatement, windows/doors,
materials for new stonework, methodology for repair and conservation –
including cleaning, re-pointing, render specifications and conservation of the
roof space.
Trees protected by Tree Preservation Order
3.5.27 Policy 9 states: “Development will be expected to incorporate existing trees
into the design and layout of the scheme.”
3.5.28 The trees surrounding the existing bowling green are protected under a Group
Tree Preservation Order as part of the Little Harwood Tree Preservation
Order.
3.5.29 The proposals seek to remove T1 an Ash Tree of low value, regarded as a
category C tree per BS5837 and the planting within Group 2 and 3 containing
a variety of plants but which are also regarded as category C as per BS5827.
The landscaping being removed is considered to be of low value.
Notwithstanding this, the applicant seeks to compensate for the loss of the
tree and planting with new planting, this is considered to be acceptable.
3.5.30 The Council considers the position of two of the new dwellings would have an
adverse impact upon a large Lime Tree (T2). The harm would occur from the
boundary fencing within the rear garden areas of plots 5 and 6 and from
subsequent tree resentment issues from future occupiers. Although it would
be preferable to keep this tree, a regular re-pollarding regime would need to
be kept on a 3-5 year programme. Depending on who the ownership of this
tree passes to this regime may not be kept up, and will be a long-term
financial commitment, which would place undue pressure on the Tree to be
felled. As a result, the felling of this tree with 3 replacements is considered, in
this case, to be a more suitable solution. The applicant has demonstrated
their commitment to undertake this replacement planting and has
subsequently provided a drawing illustrating the location upon the existing
bowling green of three new trees.
3.5.31 Officers have worked closely with the applicants to ensure the remainder of
the existing trees will not be harmed by the proposals, and to ensure the new
trees will be planted in suitable locations. With regards the latter element, it
was initially proposed to add an additional tree along the boundary of 11
Broadfield Avenue between T4 and T5 both mature small-leaved Lime Trees.
3.5.32 It has been recognised by the Council’s Tree Officer that the provision of an
additional tree located between T4 and T5 would, once the tree had matured
in approximately 15-20 years, enclose this resident’s south facing gable, and
that this would be unacceptable to the amenity of occupiers of 11 Broadfield

Page 19

Avenue. The tree to be planted between T4 and T5 has thus been relocated
to the areas of planting to the rear of Plot 8.
3.5.33 Furthermore, the Council’s Tree Consultant has recommended that the
canopy of T5 be reduced in order to abate the current contact of the canopy
and branches with the aforementioned property that would take the form of a
reduction of the canopy back from the property by 2-meters. This will address
the concerns of the residents in question and will be secured by planning
condition.
3.5.34 The applicants in conjunction with Officers of this Council have done
everything it is able to ensure the survivability of T4 and T5, both protected
trees, are not harmed and that the planting of new trees will not impinge on
the amenity of any nearby existing residents. Subject to sufficient tree
protection measures being put in place throughout the commencement of
development, works proceeding carefully within the Root Protection Area of
T5 during the demolition phase, and a condition requiring pruning of T5
closest to 11 Broadfield Avenue, the proposals are considered to accord with
the provisions of Policies 8 and 9.
Parking and Highway Safety
3.5.35 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 10 concerns itself with highway safety.
3.5.36 Each of the proposed new dwellings will each have two off-road parking
spaces and the three dwellings being created within the listed building would
each have sufficient parking provision in the area between the existing
building and the former bowling green that is to become a communal garden
area.
3.5.37 The Highway Authority is satisfied with the parking and layout of the proposed
development, the manoeuvrability of vehicles within the site and the visibility
splays on to Robinson Street.
3.5.38 The developers have recognised a section of footway that is absent, along
Robinson Street and have proposed to continue this up to the back street –
this is welcomed by the Highway Authority and will benefit all road users. A
Grampian condition to support and ensure these works are carried out is
therefore recommended.
3.5.39 Notwithstanding all of the above, it is important to consider the
representations received. Several objectors from the immediate area have
cited loss of on-street parking if the development was to be approved. The
Highway Authority has duly considered the objections and has advised the
only impact on existing on-street parking would be the area fronting plots 9-16
as these dwellings would have individual drive crossings. Whilst this would be
the case, the Highway Authority considers there is ample alternative parking
areas to support the immediate residents along the length of Robinson Street
and therefore raise no objections on this basis.

Page 20

3.5.40 The Education Authority has raised concern regarding the impact of additional
parking on Robinson Street on the safety of children, parents and teachers.
The Highway Authority has carefully considered the concerns raised,
however, for the reasons given above, they advise that the effect on highway
safety will in no way be so harmful to justify refusal of the application on this
ground.
3.5.41 Whilst the concerns around highway impact are recognised, it is considered
that the identified off-street and on-street provision is, on balance, acceptable,
particularly when considered against the following directive of the National
Planning Policy Framework, at paragraph 109:
“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”.
3.5.42 In this context, insufficient evidence exists to demonstrate that impact would
be severe. Consequently, refusal of the application on the single ground of
unacceptable highway impact is considered to be unwarranted.
3.5.43 Bearing all of the above in mind, subject to the imposition of all relevant
highway conditions, relating to implementation of the amended proposals, the
access, visibility splays, reinstatement of the pavement, restricting boundary
treatments along Robinson Street, construction management, and street
details and maintenance, the proposals are considered to accord with the
requirements of Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.
Amenity
3.5.44 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8, requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety
is secured for surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the
development itself; with reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other
pollution or nuisance, privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between
buildings.
Amenity of Existing Residents
3.5.45 The conversion of the former Conservative Club would not cause any
significant overlooking of neighbouring properties due to the separation
distances between the north-west facing elevation (current front elevation)
and properties on Whalley Old Road well exceeding the standard 21m
separation distance. Similarly, significant overlooking of the school grounds
would also not occur.
3.5.46 A number of the 11 new dwellings will be located opposite 2- 24 (even)
Robinson Street. The principle windows of the new dwellings will be
positioned 21 metres from the terraced properties opposite and this distance
therefore accords with the Council’s separation distances set out in the
Residential Design Guide SPD and thus no significant overlooking will occur.

Page 21

3.5.47 The gable of the nearest property (Plot 4) to properties on Whalley Old Road
is set approximately 14 metres from the rear elevation. No windows are
proposed in the gable of Plot 4 at first floor level and this, along with the 14
metre separation distance will ensure the amenity of the nearest properties
will not be significantly harmed. Similarly. The gable of Plot 14 nearest to the
Scholl will also have no first floor windows
3.5.48 Overall, the proposed new dwellings are suitably positioned as to not cause
significant harm to the amenity of the nearest residents or users of the school,
in compliance with Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8.
Amenity of Future Occupants
3.5.49 Before any development commences it is essential that the ground on which
the new dwellings are to be erected is safe for futures of the site. The site is
in central Blackburn and there have been a number of potentially
contaminative uses in the locality of the site although not necessarily on the
site itself. The Council’s standard contaminated land conditions can be added
to the permission to deal with this and are duly recommended to ensure a
safe standard of development is achieved.
3.5.50 Part of the area where Plots 4, 5, 7, 9 and 11 would be located is within Flood
Zone 2, as designated by the Environment Agency. It is therefore important
that future occupiers of the new dwellings as well as nearby residents would
not be affected by the development.
3.5.51 Having consulted the Environment Agency Standing Advice on the
development it is evident that due to the properties all being two storey in
height enabling occupants to have a safe place in the event of any flooding,
the proposals are therefore not considered to be highly vulnerable and thus
the Environment Agency raise no objections to the proposals. The Local Lead
Flood Authority also has no objections, subject to satisfactory drainage of the
site. A condition is therefore recommended to secure submission of details
and is considered to be necessary to ensure a safe development that would
not cause flooding elsewhere. Subject to such a condition, the proposals are
considered to comply with Policy 9 of the Local Plan Part 2 and the relevant
policies within the National Planning Policy Framework.
3.5.52 All the new dwellings, including those created within the Conservative Club,
meet the minimum floor space standards set at both a local and national level.
The proposals are thus considered to provide satisfactory accommodation for
future residents.
3.5.53 Three of the new properties nearest to the southern gable of the listed building
would be within 6.5m and 13.4m of the south gable listed building, thus
providing limited rear amenity space, and which would have an overbearing
and oppressive impact for future occupants of plots 9, 10 and 11. However,
due to the gable elevation of the listed building orientated away from the rear
of the new properties, the effect of the close proximity of the building would be
reduced; in addition, the Council has no policies stating minimum yard/ garden
sizes. However, the over-riding consideration weighing in favour of the

Page 22

application is the significant enhancements proposed to the listed building,
formally Little Harwood Hall, and its historic garden setting, outweighs the
harm caused in this instance.
Summary
3.5.54 In light of all of the above matters, and taking in to consideration the
enhancements proposed to the listed building and its setting, the proposals
are considered to provide a satisfactory level of amenity for both existing
residents and future occupants of the development itself accord with both
Policies 8 and 9 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.
Design and visual amenity
3.5.55 Policy 11 requires a good standard of design and will be expected to enhance
and reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an
understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to
the local area.
3.5.56 The dwellings present an appropriate mix of semi-detached and terrace types,
at a scale proportionate to individual plot sizes and in response to properties
in the immediate vicinity, which include semi-detached and terraced.
3.5.57 The general design of the dwellings is considered to be acceptable; however,
the plans submitted indicate the use of concrete roofing tiles. This aspect of
the proposals is not supported given the prevailing roofing materials of
neighbouring properties on Robinson Street and Whalley Old Road is blue
slate and the presence of the Grade II listed building. The applicant has been
made aware of this concern and is willing to accept a materials condition to
secure materials that are more sympathetic to the sites context.
3.5.58 In the interests of highway safety and at the request of the Environment
Agency during pre-app discussions, no boundaries are proposed to the front
of the properties and this will be conditioned.
3.5.59 Appropriate enclosure of the communal area to the rear of the building will be
secured by a boundary treatment condition.
3.5.60 A landscaping scheme, secured by condition, will visually enhance the site to
the rear on the former bowling green and serve to contribute towards
biodiversity measures.
Protected Species
3.5.61 The presence of a protected species is a material consideration when a
planning authority is considering a development proposal that, if carried out,
would be likely to result in harm to the species or its habitat. It is essential that
the presence or otherwise of protected species, and the extent that they may
be affected by the proposed development, is established before the planning
permission is granted, otherwise all relevant material considerations may not
have been addressed in making the decision.

Page 23

3.5.62 The Council’s Ecologists are satisfied that the existing Conservative Club has
a low-negligible potential to support bats and are satisfied that no further
survey work is required prior to deciding the application or starting works, but
given the highly protected status of bats and the mobile and sometimes
cryptic habits of bats it is recommended that the precautions recommended in
the survey report are adhered to during the conversion works.
3.5.63 The precautions include a recommendation that the removal of any roof tiles
or fascia boards from the building to be converted is undertaken by hand
under the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist. If bats or signs of bats
are found at any time during works then works must cease and advice sought
from a suitably qualified ecologist about how best to proceed. It is not believed
that the risk to bats is so high as to formally require the recommended
precautions to be implemented as a Condition of any approval which may be
granted to the scheme but an informative note is recommended to ensure that
the applicant is aware of these suggested precautions and implements the
recommendations.
Summary and conclusions
3.5.64 This report assesses the planning application for the residential development
on car park of the former St Stephens Conservative Club. The site is
considered to be in an accessible location within the adopted urban boundary.
The proposed access, manoeuvrability within the site, and level of parking
provision is also considered to be acceptable.
3.5.65 As required to do so, Officers have given the duty’s imposed by Section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
considerable weight. NPPF Paragraph 193 states that great weight should be
given to the conservation of heritage assets regardless of the level of harm.
High Court decisions have been clear that a lower level of harm does not
equate to a lesser objection given the principle duty under the Act is to
preserve.
3.5.66 It is the view of Officers that, when taken as a whole, the proposals to the
listed building will not cause any harm to the special character of the heritage
asset. As such, as demonstrated in the relevant section of this report, this
would meet the statutory test to ‘preserve’ and would accord with the NPPF
and Policy 39 contained in the Local Plan Part 2.
3.5.67 To secure the benefits provided by the proposal to the historic fabric of the
listed building it is recommended that suitable Conditions be applied to any
PP/LBC requiring the submission of further details relating to windows/doors,
materials for new stonework, methodology for repair – including cleaning, repointing and render specifications.
3.5.68 Whilst the setting of the listed building will be seriously compromised by the
erection of 11 New Dwellings, the reinstatement of the garden area
associated when the building was erected as Little Harwood Hall, along with
the proposed removal of modern harmful additions, and the reinstatement of
the historic Palladian façade more than outweigh the harm,

Page 24

3.5.69 In addition the applicant has committed to replacing the large lime tree with
three new trees on the bowling green. This combined with the reinstatement
of the historic garden area complies with heritage protection policies and will
also provide residents with a green oasis.
3.5.70 As a proposal compliant with the aims and objectives of national policy and
the Local Development Plan, it will secure appropriate levels of amenity and
will adhere to advocated good design principles. The proposal is also
satisfactory from a technical point of view, with all issues having been
addressed through the application or capable of being controlled or mitigated
through use of planning conditions.
3.5.71 In considering the proposals, a wide range of other material considerations
have been taken into account to inform a balanced recommendation that is
considered to demonstrate compliance with the Local Development Plan and
The Framework and, subject to the recommended conditions, it is
recommended that Members support the proposals.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Approve subject to Conditions which relate to the following matters:
PLANNING PERMISSION:























Commence within 3 years
Materials conditions
Submission of an archaeological report
Submission of rear boundary treatments to the new dwellings
Submission of a landscaping scheme
Submission of a drainage scheme
Foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems
Submission of highway infrastructure engineering details
Submission of vehicle crossing construction
Reinstatement of the pavement
Submission of a Construction Management Statement
Visibility splays not to be obstructed by any building, wall, fence, tree, shrub
or other device exceeding 1m above crown level of the adjacent highway
Contaminated land - submission of detailed proposals for site investigation
Contaminated land – submission of validation report demonstrating
effective remediation
Unexpected contamination
Limited hours of construction:
08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays
09:00 to 13:00 Saturdays
Not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays
Tree Protection measures
Tree-Pruning condition for T5
Electric Vehicle Charging Point and Boiler omissions
Permitted Development rights removal
Development in accordance with submitted details / drawing nos.

Page 25

LISTED BUILDING CONSENT
Commencement of works timeframe
Proposals in accordance with submitted details / drawing nos
Listed building materials
No works within the roofspace without obtaining express consent of LPA
Stonework condition
Work methodology of repair and refurbishment works to the building
including any rebuilding, repointing and the mortar mix to be used and its
profile.
 Details requiring internal treatment of existing and new walls, ceilings,
doors, timber skirting and architraves, sound insulation and lighting.
 Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted demolition plan the
work methodology for the internal demolition and alterations including
works to block up existing openings should be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
 Joinery details







5.0

PLANNING HISTORY
19/0281 (LBC) – Conversion of Listed Building to form 3 dwellinghouses –
Withdrawn, 03.07.2019
10/09/1149 – Replace bowling hut – Withdrawn, 16/02/2010
10.95/0303 (Listed Building Consent) – Provision of a waterproof skin to
existing Gents Toilet to combat water penetration – Consent ,10/05/1995
10.94/1586 – Erection of dusk-to-dawn solar cell operated security light on 5
metre high columns to illuminate the car park – Approved, 29/12/1994
10.92/0262 – Security fencing of car park facing onto Robinson Street –
Approved, 29/09/1992
10.84/1138 (Listed Building Consent) – Painted timber sign illuminated –
Consent, 25/09/1984
10.84/1294 - (Advertisement Consent) – Painted timber sign illuminated Approved, 19/09/1984

6.0

CONSULTATIONS
ARBORICULTURE
There are no objections to the proposed development going ahead, with the
following comments in mind:
 T1, G3 and G4 should not be regarded as constraints on the
development and should be removed if necessary.

Page 26





T5 should not be reduced by 33% - A 1.5m – 2m Prune back from the
adjacent property is sufficient.
Restrictions apply to potential excavations within the RPA of T5.
Due to its species T2 will cause constant issues to residents of plots 4
to 7. It would seem the most sensible solution to remove this tree now
and replace with 3 or 4 more suitable species that should be protected
as part of the TPO.

Wording for conditions:
Tree Pruning:
Condition: Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved
(including all preparatory work), an amended schedule of tree pruning works
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The approved tree pruning works shall be carried out in accordance with
BS3998:2010. The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: The 33% crown reduction and canopy rebalancing to T5 is
considered too severe. Only the foliage touching the property should be
reduced back by 1.5m-2m. This is to avoid any irreversible damage to this
retained tree pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990. The following British Standards should be referred to: a) BS: 3998:2010
Tree work – Recommendations b) BS: 5837 (2012) Trees in relation to
demolition, design and construction – Recommendations
Demolition and excavation:
Condition: The Arboricultural Method Statement and Construction Document
detailing the method for carrying out demolition works (4.2.3 Stage 3. Carry
out demolition works) submitted as part of the Arboricultural Report by
Christians Environmental in support of the application shall be adhered to in
full.
Reason: Required to avoid any irreversible damage to retained trees during
demolition or construction, particularly T5, pursuant to section 197 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

ARCHAEOLOGY
The above planning applications involve significant alterations to the existing
Listed Building but, as noted in the submitted Heritage Statement by Mr
Haigh, this will provide an economic use for the building and remove two
rather unsympathetic additions. The impacts to the exterior will thus be
positive. The alterations to the interior appear to mainly affect the more recent
modifications to the building, although earlier features could be revealed
during the stripping and demolition process.
The proposed new houses and parking, gardens, etc. fall into areas which
were part of the gardens to the former hall. Some boundaries and garden
buildings are shown in these areas on the OS 1:10,560 map of 1848 and the
1:2,500 map of 1894 (sheets Lancashire 62 and 62.12 respectively) but they

Page 27

have since been cleared away and it is not considered that any buried
remains of them would be of high significance.
As such we would not raise any objections to the applications, nor
recommend any intrusive archaeological work. We would suggest, however,
that a photographic record of the existing club building be made prior to works
commencing, supplemented by further photography once the modern
extensions have removed and following stripping out. The following planning
condition wording is suggested:
Condition: No development, site clearance/preparation, or demolition shall
commence until the applicant, or their agent or successors in title, has
secured the implementation of a programme of building recording and
analysis. This must be carried out in accordance with a written scheme of
investigation, which shall first have been submitted to and agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The programme of recording should comprise a
photographic record of the existing building inside and out prior to any site
preparation, stripping or demolition works, as set out in 'Understanding
Historic Buildings' (Historic England 2016). This should be supplemented by
further photographic recording following stripping out and the demolition of the
modern extensions. This work should be undertaken by an appropriately
qualified and experienced professional contractor to the standards and
guidance of the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists
(www.archaeologists.net).
Reason: To ensure and safeguard the recording and inspection of matters of
archaeological/historical importance associated with the buildings/site.
Note: Relevant archaeological standards and lists of potential contractors can
be found on the CIfA web pages: http://www.archaeologists.net and the BAJR
Directory: http://www.bajr.org/whoseWho/. "Understanding Historic Buildings"
can be accessed online at https://historicengland.org.uk/imagesbooks/
publications/understanding-historic-buildings/.
This is in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework paragraph
199: "Local planning authorities should require developers to record and
advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost
(wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the
impact, and to make this evidence (and any archive generated) publicly
accessible".
Please note that the above comments have been made without the benefit of
a site visit. If you need any further information or would like to discuss this
further please do not hesitate to contact me.
Conservation
The Conservation Officers had concerns initially relating to the parking area
on the bowling green and works proposed within the listed building. Officers
of the Council have worked closely with the applicants to overcome the initial
issues and ensuring the historic Jacobean façade is reinstated.
Subject to the recommended conditions, no objections are now raised.

Page 28

Ecology Unit
Thank you for consulting the Ecology Unit on the above planning application. I
have the following comments –
Bats
The Bat Survey and Assessment of the building to be converted has been
carried out by suitably qualified ecologists and is to appropriate and
proportionate standards. I would not disagree with the survey findings, which
did not record any bats or signs of bats and assessed the building as having
low-negligible potential to support bats. No further bat surveys are required
prior to deciding the application or starting works, but given the highly
protected status of bats and the mobile and sometimes cryptic habits of bats
some precautions as regards bats are recommended in the survey report. I
would support these precautions.
The precautions include a recommendation that the removal of any roof tiles
or fascia boards from the building to be converted is undertaken by hand
under the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist. If bats or signs of bats
are found at any time during works then works must cease and advice sought
from a suitably qualified ecologist about how best to proceed. I do not believe
that the risk to bats is so high as to formally require the recommended
precautions to be implemented as a Condition of any approval which may be
granted to the scheme but an informative (advisory) should be used to ensure
that the applicant is aware of these suggested precautions and implements
the recommendations.
All UK bats and their resting sites are specially protected under the terms of
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended)
and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).
Trees
The site supports four mature broadleaved trees (Limes and a Beech) which
will have some local nature conservation importance. Currently the plans
show these trees as being retained and this is welcomed, but the retained
trees will need to be properly protected during the course of any approved
development works.
I would recommend that the implementation of the ‘Arboriculture Method
Statement and Construction Document’ prepared by Christians Environmental
in Feb 2019 (report ref. SS-BS-001 Revision A) is required by means of a
Condition placed on any permission which may be granted to the scheme.
Nesting Birds
The trees and other scrub/vegetation on the site have the potential to support
breeding birds. The active nests of all wild birds are protected under the
Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981 (as amended). Therefore an informative

Page 29

should be used to ensure that the applicant is aware that no vegetation
clearance should be undertaken in the main bird nesting season (March August) unless it can otherwise be demonstrated that there are no active
birds’ nests present on the site.

Environment Agency
We have no objection to the development but would wish to offer the following
comments:Flood Risk Activity Permits
The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 require
a permit to be obtained for any activities which will take place:



on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal)
on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culverted main river
(16 metres if tidal)
 on or within 16 metres of a sea defence
 involving quarrying or excavation within 16 metres of any main river, flood
defence (including a remote defence) or culvert
 in a floodplain more than 8 metres from the river bank, culvert or flood
defence structure (16 metres if it’s a tidal main river) and you don’t already
have planning permission
For further guidance please visit https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-riskactivities-environmental-permits or contact our National Customer Contact
Centre on 03702 422 549. The applicant should not assume that a permit
will automatically be forthcoming once planning permission has been granted,
and we advise them to consult with us at the earliest opportunity.
The Flood Risk Assessment refers to the River Blakewater as the nearest
identified main river, however Little Harwood Brook flows in culvert below the
pavement fronting the development site. Drawing number 003 version D in
appendix A of the FRA appears to show garden walls in front of plots 4 – 8 in
close proximity to the culvert. However version G, of the same drawing,
which was submitted with this application as the Proposed Site Plan
18.109.003G, does not appear to show these walls. If the scheme is revised
again to include garden walls along the site frontage, we would not issue a
permit for their construction if they were within 8 meters of the edge of the
Little Harwood Brook culvert.
Flood risk standing advice - advice to LPA
The proposed development falls within Flood Zone 2 which is land defined in
the planning practice guidance as being at a medium risk of flooding.
We have produced a series of standard comments for local planning
authorities and planning applicants to refer to on ‘lower risk’ development
proposals. These comments replace direct case-by-case consultation with us.

Page 30

This proposal falls within this category.
These standard comments are known as Flood Risk Standing Advice (FRSA).
They can be viewed at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessmentfor-planning-applications#when-to-follow-standing-advice
We recommend that you view our standing advice in full before making a
decision on this application. We do not need to be consulted.

Education
Robinson Street was made into a no through access road when St Stephens
Primary School was built and since this time traffic congestion and traffic
management on this road has been and remains a significant concern.
With 2 large community buildings located on this road (St Stephens School
and Little Harwood Children’s Centre), the volume of traffic is already high
and parking is restrictive.
Despite many attempts to encourage walking buses and walk to
nursery/school initiatives, families using the community facilities tend to use
vehicles to transport their children. This had led to serious concerns about
child safety which has resulted in both of the community venues having to
restrict access to their car parks at key drop off and collection times across
the day. Both community venues have actively engaged with the community
and also with the community policing team to try to discourage drivers and
poor/inappropriate parking however these attempts have been futile.
Towards the latter end of the day (typically after school but before the
Children’s Centre closes, the road is often used by vehicles racing at some
speed up and down the street and around the roundabout – again this cause
great concern with regards to safety.
Whilst we acknowledge some of the benefits of the proposed new housing,
the potential to further increase the number of vehicles using Robinson Street
for access to these properties is worrying. It is pleasing to see that the
properties have individualised parking provisions, however from the plans
provided it seems that the parking ingress and egress for some of the
properties is directly from Robinson Street which will further exacerbate
existing problems and also be challenging for new home owners.
In respect of pupil places, the area has sufficient capacity for the provision of
early years places for an increased population of 2, 3 & 4 year olds who wish
to access early education provision, however the provision for primary school
places in the immediate locality is at a premium.

Highways
Initial comments:
Parking

Page 31

Each dwelling house is 3bed and would therefore require 2 car parking
spaces per property. The details received offers 2 parking spaces per
property, for those fronting onto Robinson Street, both bays are positioned on
the driveway, and are at an adequate length and size.
Those that are offered in a circular form and to provide parking for plots 1-3
have the correct bay sizes but not adequate manoeuvrability into and out of
the bays – please request revision. There also appears to be an excess of 2
spaces, please provide the justification for this.
The parking bays for plots 9-14 will require properly constructed vehicular
crossovers; contact would need to be made with the Local Highway authority
for approval and construction.
On my site visit I noted that the street was heavily parked with vehicles, which
I suspect largely belong to the school, and parents who were picking up their
children at the time Evidently there is an area in front of 2-12 Robinson Street
which I suspect provides parking to support visitors to the shops/residents in
the area. This is not highway land and is private.
Access
Vehicular access to the plots is either via the new tarmac road which is to be
introduced or individual drives directly out on Robinson Street. The access
road serving plots 4-8 have no turning head at the end of the road, and also
no footway to guide pedestrian safely to the properties.
The layout of the road in the form presented would not comply with the
council’s standards adoption guidance’s and we would not be seeking
adoption of the new road – the road would remain private.
The width of the new access road at the junction with Robinson Street is too
wide, and should be restricted to a 4.5m wide, to ensure the safety of
pedestrians crossing over. Please seek amendment.
Notwithstanding the above, a refuse vehicle which would enter the road would
need to be able to turn and exit in forward gear. No evidence of where the
turning point will be or evidence of swept path analysis is required for
assessment.
A vehicle sightline has been provided for the new access out onto Robinson
Street – this is acceptable, in principle however no details on boundary
treatment along the frontage of the site has been provided
All access points should comply with vehicle sightlines of 2.4 x 70m at 1.05m
above road level and pedestrian sightlines of 2.4(from the back of the
footway) x 3.3m at 600mm above road level. These visibility splays should
remain un-hindered hereinafter please request further details.
The developers have recognised a section of footway that is absent, along
Robinson Street and have proposed to continue this up to the back street –
this is welcomed. Please could we attach a suitable Grampian condition to
support and ensure these works are carried out?

Page 32

-

-

OTHER
All existing street furniture including street lighting should be
removed/disconnected at the applicants expense and relocated at locations
to be agreed with by the relevant highways officer, (should they be required to
do so)
Construction method statement is to be received this should include wheel
washing
Contact to be made with our Structures Division prior to commencement of
any works affecting retaining walls/ structure adjacent to/abutting or within the
adopted highway
Prior to any work commencing that affects the existing adopted highway
contact to be made with the Local Highway Authorities office on Tel: 01254
273838 to undertake a condition survey.
Any old entrances that are no longer required should be closed and reinstated
back to full footway, at the developers expense
Several objectors from the immediate area have cited loss of parking if the
development was to be approved. . Having considered the scheme fully, I am
of the opinion that the only drives which impact the street scene and some
parking which may occur presently is the area fronting plots 9-16 as they will
have individual drive crossings, however my assessment and also site visit, I
noted there was ample alternative parking areas to support the immediate
residents
To conclude, in principle we would have no objections, but require the above
matters being to be addressed before we can fully support the application.
Please note: Prior to the commencement of any works that affect or adjoin
the adopted highway – contact is to be made with the local highway authority
officer Simon Littler on Mob: 07766 578007
Please attach standards conditions/Informatives: Highways1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 9, 90,
10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 17
Comments on the additional details received 9th July 2019
Parking: no further comment to offer
Access: adjustments have been made to the access width which is now
reduced to 4.5m
The addition of a turning head to the road serving plots 4-8 is welcomed.
Sightlines to be kept clear in perpetuity for all access points and drives please condition
The extension of footway along Robinson Street is to be delivered by the
developer, please attach a Grampian condition.
All matters previously outlined under Other and standards conditions and
informative presented should be attached to the approval.

Page 33

Public Protection
With reference to the above application, I recommend that the following
condition(s), informative(s) and/or comment(s) be included if planning
permission is granted:
Air Quality
The Blackburn with Darwen BC planning advice note gives us guidance on
different developments and how we approach them in terms of air quality. A
site of this nature would be subject only to the standard mitigation measures
detailed in the guidance.
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/planningdocs/policies/Air-Quality-PANv7-July2018.pdf
Air Quality Condition for a type 1 site type development (<100 residential
units outside an AQMA)
The following mitigation measures will be implemented prior to the
commencement of the approved use:
1. There shall be one electric vehicle charging point at each house with offroad parking. The Air quality mitigation measures shall be implemented
prior to the occupation of each plot. These measures shall include: the
provision of an electric vehicle charging point for every plot and gas fired
domestic heating boilers shall not emit more than 40mgNOx/kWh.
This condition implements the requirements of Council’s Air Quality PAN and
the Principles of Good Practice in the EPUK & IAQM guidance Planning for
Air Quality. These are readily achievable mitigation measures that reflect
current good practice and help to reduce the cumulative impact of current and
future developments.
Contaminated Land
The development is a sensitive end use and comprises a number of
residential units.
The site is in central Blackburn and there have been a number of potentially
contaminative uses in the locality of the site although not necessarily on the
site itself.
The standard contaminated land condition can be added to the permission to
deal with this.
It is possible that a good desk study and site walkover may able to screen out
any particular risk with the site although this would depend on the specifics of
the survey and what it uncovered.

Page 34

CONTAMINATED LAND CONDITIONS
Condition 1
Prior to the commencement of construction works on site, the developer must
submit to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for written approval:
i. A comprehensive desk study report, including a preliminary conceptual site
model (CSM) in text, plan and cross-section form. Detailed proposals for
subsequent site investigation based on the CSM shall be included as
appropriate; the developer will be advised whether any further site
assessment is required.
ii. If required by the LPA, the findings of the approved site investigation work,
including an appropriate assessment of risks to both human health and the
wider environment, arising from contaminants in, on or under the land
(including ground gas) will be submitted. Where unacceptable risks are
identified an updated CSM, remedial options appraisal and detailed
remediation scheme shall be presented for approval. No deviation shall be
made from this scheme without the written express agreement of the LPA.
Condition 2
Prior to the commencement of the permitted use, the developer must submit a
comprehensive validation report to the LPA for written approval. The report
shall demonstrate effective remediation in accordance with the agreed
remediation scheme. All the installed remediation must be retained for the
duration of the approved use and the LPA periodically informed in writing of
any ongoing monitoring and decisions based thereon as appropriate.
REASON: To ensure that the site has been made ‘suitable for use’, and as
such, does not pose a risk to future users of the site or the wider environment.
Condition 3
Should contamination be encountered unexpectedly during redevelopment, all
works should cease, and the LPA should be immediately informed in writing. If
unacceptable risks are identified, a remedial options appraisal and detailed
remediation scheme should be presented, and agreed in writing by the LPA.
No deviation shall be made from this scheme without the written express
agreement of the LPA.
REASON: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site in accordance
with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan.
Neighbour Representations
55 individual letters were sent to the local residents. In addition, site notices were
posted, and a press notice advertised in the local newspaper. The same local
residents were consulted again on receipt of the amended site plan by letter, site
notices and in the local newspaper.
As a result of both rounds of public consultation 4 letters of objection have been
received, together with one letter of support from the local ward councillor, these are
summarised in Section 9.
7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Booth – Senior Planning Officer

Page 35

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 7th November 2019

Page 36

9.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Support – Councillor Abdul Patel – 27th September 2019:
I am in support of this application.

Objection – Usman Dagra, 22 Robinson Street. Rec – 10/04/2019

Objection – Yusuf Mansur, 12 Robinson Street, Blackburn. Rec – 11/04/2019

Page 37

Objection – Maarya Shaikh, 18 Robinson Street. Rec – 18/04/2019

Objection – Mohammed Sidat. Rec – 26/07/2019

Other
Councillor Desai, 20 August 2019

Page 38

Hi Claire,
Thank you very much for resolving this one; I spoke with Mr Sidat this morning and
he is happy with the revised tree planting plan.
Best wishes

Cllr Mustafa Desai
Elected Member Little Harwood & Whitebirk Ward
Executive Member Adult Social Care & Prevention

Page 39

Agenda Item 4.2
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0842

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for; proposed conversion of
warehouse to 8no two bedroom apartments.
Site address:
St Barnabas Warehouse
Watery Lane
Darwen
BB3 2EB
Applicant: G & J Properties Ltd
Ward: West Pennine
Councillor: Colin Rigby
Councillor: Jean Rigby
Councillor: Julie Slater
60

Recreation Ground

1

34
64

Play Area

T
RS
U
H
W
DE

FB

3

2

T
EE
R
ST

74

84

14

194.7m

24

3

LA
N
E
W
A
TE
R
Y

N
SO
N
LI
W
RA

El
Su
St b
a

92

Water

94

Ba
rn
Ho aba
us s
e

11

BA
34
LM
O
RA
L
RO
AD

ET
RE
ST
15

ST
21

S
A
AB
N
AR
B

98

10
0

ET
RE
ST

198.0m

1

1

Pond

19

6

3

11
2

1
14

1

St
Ba
rna
Ch bas'
urc
h

2

1

D
EL
FI
R
TE
A
W
E
U
EN
AV

Page 40

L
A
R
O
LM
A
B

S
EN
D
R
A
G

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions; as set out in paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The application is presented to Committee under the Chair Referral Scheme;
due to the number of public objections received.

2.2

The proposal is in the form of a full planning application. Assessment of the
submitted detail establishes that the proposal corresponds with the Council’s
overarching housing growth strategy; as set out in the Development Plan
(comprising Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2). It suitably demonstrates
delivery of a high quality development that would make an important
contribution towards the Council’s housing delivery target, adding to the
vitality of the local housing market. Moreover, from a technical point of view,
all issues have been addressed through the planning application or are
capable of being controlled or mitigated through planning conditions.

2.3

Members are advised of a previous approval in 2013, for conversion of the
building into 10no. apartments and the erection of 4no. terraced houses. This
application seeks permission for conversion to 8no. apartments, whilst a
separate application also presented to the Committee seeks permission for
the erection of 6no. dwellings to the rear (ref: 10/19/0843). Both applications
correspond with each of the application sites assessed in 2013. Assessment
of this application, having regard to amenity, is considered in the context of
both applications. Members are further advised of the applicant’s statement
that the viability of both schemes, are mutually dependant on each other.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site measures 590 square metres in area and consists of a
building that was formerly St. Barnabas School and was most recently a retail
furniture shop (Use Class A1), together with an area to the rear that was
formerly part of an associated car park / servicing area. The site fronts
Watery Lane to the north-west. The shop recently closed down and the site is
now recognised as redundant. Vehicular access to the rear of the building is
currently taken from Rawlinson Street.
3.1.2 In accordance with the Development Plan, the site is located within Darwen’s
outer urban area. To the north of Watery Lane is an area allocated as Green
Infrastructure. The area is predominantly residential, characterised by a mix
of terraced and semi-detached dwellings.
Of note is the recent
redevelopment of the former Balmoral Mill site on Balmoral Road, located to
the south east of the site. The development consists of 27 semi-detached

Page 41

homes and was delivered by the developer proposing the scheme subject to
this assessment.
3.1.3 The site is well served by the local road network, and access to local
amenities and public transport links along the A666 are within a reasonable
walking distance. Darwen town centre, a short distance away, offers frequent
services for commuters to destinations including but not limited to
Manchester, Bolton, Clitheroe and Preston.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 As set out in the submitted drawings, the proposal is a full planning application
for the conversion of the building into 8no. self-contained apartments with a
dedicated (communal) outdoor amenity space and off-street parking provision
for 8no. vehicles; access to which will be taken from the existing point off
Rawlinson Street and a proposed point off Barnabas Street.
3.2.2 The conversion will provide self-contained accommodation over the existing
two floors, comprising of 8no. 2 bed apartments. No alterations are proposed
to the front elevation. The addition of the mezzanine levels to the rear
sections of the building will introduce new windows to the side elevation to
Barnabas Street and to the rear elevation, to provide windows at a suitable
height for the proposed mezzanine floors.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 Core Strategy






CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
CS5 – Locations for New Housing
CS6 – Housing Targets
CS7 – Types of Housing
CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

3.3.3 Local Plan Part 2










Policy 1 – The Urban Boundary
Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8 – Development and People
Policy 9 – Development and the Environment
Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11 – Design
Policy 12 – Developer Contributions
Policy 18 – Housing Mix
Policy 19 – Apartment Development and Houses in Multiple
Occupation

Page 42

3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Houses in Multiple Occupation and Residential Conversions and Sub
Divisions SPD.
3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) (2019)
The Framework sets out the government’s aims and objectives against which
planning policy and decision making should be considered. The following
sections of the Framework are considered relevant to assessment of the
proposal:




Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities.
Section 11 – Making effective use of land; in particular paragraph 188
d) which directs that decisions should promote and support the
development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if this
would help to meet identified needs for housing.

3.4.4 Technical housing standards – nationally described space standards
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 In assessing this full application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows:






Principle of residential development;;
Amenity;
Environment;
Highways;
Design;

3.5.2 Principle
The principle of the development is considered under the Blackburn with
Darwen Development Plan; particularly Policies CS1, CS5, CS6 and CS7 of
the Core Strategy and Policies 1, 7, 18 and 19 of Local Plan part 2.
3.5.3 The site lies within Darwen’s defined Urban Boundary but is otherwise
unallocated. Policy CS1 sets out the principle that development will be
concentrated within the urban area. Policy CS5 is relevant to the proposed
development insofar as it identifies a need for development to be in
sustainable locations and preferably in the inner urban area in order to help
stimulate economic change and support overall levels of housing delivery.
Policy CS5 has a target requirement of 65% of all new housing to be
constructed on previously developed sites. Although outside of the preferred
location for new housing within the defined Inner Urban Area, Policy CS5 also
directs that new housing will take place in accessible locations elsewhere
within the urban area. Accordingly, the proposal is consistent with this policy
requirement and with the Core Strategy’s overarching aims and objectives of

Page 43

achieving economic gain through new development and of promoting new
house building with the urban areas of Blackburn and Darwen. Moreover, the
principle of redeveloping the site for housing is previously accepted by a
permission granted in 2011, details of which are set out at paragraph 5.1.
3.5.4 The Core Strategy sets out the principle of housing locations, targets and
types. Local Plan Part 2, Policies 18 and 19 guides the principle of
conversion to apartments.
3.5.5 Policy 18 directs that new housing should widen the choice of housing types
in the Borough, with an emphasis on the delivery of detached and semidetached housing to be the principle element of the dwelling mix on any site
that is capable of accommodating such housing. In the absence of
demonstrable targeted accommodation types set out on part (2) of the policy,
the proposal should satisfy part (3) which requires apartment development for
the general market to be acceptable only where it is the most appropriate form
of housing given the local context or the characteristics of the site. Retention
and re-use of a quality building advances an argument that the proposal is the
optimum solution for the site and is consistent with part (4) of the policy.
Moreover the previous approval (2013) for apartment conversion is afforded
proportionate weight in the assessment.
3.5.6 Policy 19 states that the Council will only support the development of
apartments where they conform with Policy 18 and meet additional criteria in
relation to the amenity and character of the surrounding area, where it does
not negatively impact on residential amenity and the provision of appropriate
paring and refuse facilities. Policy 18 is clear that provision of bedsit
accommodation will only be exceptionally supported. The submitted floor
plans demonstrate provision of self-contained apartments rather than bedsit
accommodation; consistent with the objectives part (i) of the policy. The
proposal is also consistent with part (ii) of the policy, in that (in the case of
conversion) the property is evidently suitable for conversion without the need
for any extensions. Off-street parking spaces for 8 vehicles together with
manoeuvring space is provided, in a manner which appropriately safeguards
residential amenity and the qualities of the street scene and is, therefore,
consistent with part (iii) of the policy. Adequate refuse storage is also
provided; consistent with part (iv) of the policy.
3.5.8 Accordingly, the principle of the development is accepted, as consistent with
Council’s housing strategy, as set out in the Development Plan, and The
Framework’s presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should
proceed without delay, unless impacts which significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits of a proposal are identified; subject to assessment of
the following matters:
3.5.9 Amenity
Policy 8 requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for
surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with
reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance,
privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between buildings.

Page 44

3.5.10 The submission is considered in context with the application for 6no. dwellings
on land to the rear, with regard to separation standards. Separation between
the proposed ground floor bedroom of the dwelling at plot no. 1 and directly
opposing apartment lounge windows achieves a sub-standard separation of
14m. As the lounge benefits from non-obscure windows to both side
elevations, it is considered appropriate to secure non-opening and obscure
glazed units to the rear windows to overcome the issue. Separation between
the ground floor bedroom window to plot no. 4 and opposing apartment
lounge windows in the rear elevation is also sub-standard at 16.5m. Nonopening and obscure glazed units to these windows is also considered
appropriate, on account of alternative non-obscure windows serving the room
within the side elevations. Such obscure glazed and non-opening units will be
secured by condition. Further, it should be recognised that the existing
terrace pattern of development features a similar sub-standard separation.
Separation between the dwellings and the apartments at ground floor is
otherwise acceptable; as in accordance with those directed by the Residential
Design Guide SPD.
3.5.11 Separation between principle widows to the rear of the dwellings at first and
second floor and principle windows to the rear of the apartments is achieved
by means of an angled outrigger which features windows facing into each
property; thereby avoiding conflict with principle apartment windows. Any
overlooking created by proposed first floor amenity space to the rear of the
dwellings, in the form of a balcony, will be mitigated by the aforementioned
obscure glazed, non-opening windows and balustrades; the material of which
will be secured by condition.
3.5.12 Windows to the side elevation of no. 98 Watery Lane are recognised. The
relationship between the proposed apartment bedroom windows in the
opposing side elevation is accepted as presenting a degree of conflict. Such
conflict is, however, considered in the context of a pre-existing relationship
present during the use of the application site as a school, and more recently
as a retail use. Moreover, the proposal is broadly consistent with that
previously approved in 2013, which is an important material planning
consideration. Accordingly, the relationship is considered to be acceptable.
3.5.13 Appropriate communal outdoor amenity space to serve occupants of the
apartments will be provided to the rear of building, screened by a suitable
boundary treatment to be secured by condition. Bin storage is included
therein.
3.5.14 Sub-surface ground conditions can be appropriately addressed by application
of the Council’s standard contaminated land condition; as recommended by
Public protection.
3.5.15 A degree of disturbance during construction phase of the development is
recognised as inevitable. Such disturbance is, however, temporary and
considered acceptable, subject to application of a condition limiting hours of
construction, and for works to be undertaken in accordance with a submitted

Page 45

Demolition / Construction Method Statement, in order to secure appropriate
noise and vibration protection during construction works.
3.5.16 On balance, the development is considered compliant with the safeguarding
amenity objectives of Policy 8, SPD Policies and The Framework.
3.5.17 Highways / Accessibility / Transport
Policy 10 requires that road safety and the safe, efficient and convenient
movement of all highway users is not prejudiced, and that appropriate
provision is made for off street servicing and parking in accordance with the
Council’s adopted standards.
3.5.18 A Transport Statement is submitted in support of the application. The
Statement considers this application site and that of the 6no. dwellings,
assessment of which is covered in the corresponding Committee Report
(10/19/0843). 8no. dedicated off street parking spaces are to be provided to
the rear of the converted building, accessed from Rawlinson Street and
Barnabas Street. Such provision is recognised as sub-standard by the
Council’s Highways consultee, when assessed against the adopted standard
which, for the proposed 2 bedroom apartments, requires an allowance of
16no. spaces. Consequently, strong concerns are offered by the highways
officer. Whilst this under provision is recognised, on street capacity for circa
4no. spaces is available to the front of the building on Watery Lane - spaces
that would otherwise have served the previous retail use. This is a material
planning consideration. In addition, circa 6no. spaces on the opposite side of
Watery Lane are also available. These spaces are delineated as on-street
parking bays. Therefore, notwithstanding the concerns raised by the highway
officer, these are not considered to be significantly harmful or detrimental
enough to outweigh the benefits of the proposed scheme being brought
forward.
3.5.19 Local objection to the application, on the grounds of pre-existing parking
problems in the locality have been received. Local circumstances in this
regard are influenced by the presence of neighbouring terraced housing
reliant on on-street parking and the presence of the Children’s Day Nursery
opposite the site on Watery Lane which does in fact offer a modest off-street
parking / servicing area sufficient for staff members. Further, drop-off and
pick-up associated with the Nursery would only be short term and likely limited
to hours when local resident parking requirements would not be at an
optimum.
3.5.20 Whilst the concerns around highway impact are recognised, it is considered
that the identified off-street and on-street provision is, on balance, acceptable,
particularly when considered against the following directive of The
Framework, at paragraph 109:
Development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety,
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be
severe.

Page 46

In this context, insufficient evidence exists to demonstrate that impact would
be severe. Consequently, refusal of the application on the single ground of
unacceptable highway impact is considered to be unwarranted.
3.5.21 Moreover, weight is attached to the applicants assertion that the viability of
this scheme and that of the proposed 6no. dwellings, are mutually dependant
on each other, and the sustainability credentials of the proposal; taking into
account the sites proximity to public transport routes along the A666; the
contribution to economic growth and environmental gain resulting from
redeveloping the unused site and the social benefits of delivering of
accommodation of a type to meet specific needs.
3.5.22 Vehicular access points into the parking spaces will be taken from a new
access from Barnabas Street and an existing access from Rawlinson Street.
Formally constructed vehicular crossings will be required; preferably in the
form of dropped crossing points. Full technical details will be secured by
condition.
3.5.23 On balance, compliance with Policy 10 and The Framework is achieved.
3.5.24 Design / Character and Appearance
Policy 11 requires a good standard of design and will be expected to enhance
and reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an
understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to
the local area.
3.5.25 The building is recognisable for its imposing scale within the street scene and
stone elevations. Alterations will appropriately be kept to a minimum, limited
to introduction of additional windows to the side and rear elevations,
necessary to facilitate the sub-divided residential conversion. These openings
are accepted as entirely proportionate and consistent with the existing; subject
to a condition to secure submission of window surround and frame details.
3.5.26 Appropriate enclosure of the communal area to the rear of the building will be
secured by a boundary treatment condition.
3.5.27 A landscaping scheme, secured by condition, will visually enhance the site to
the rear and serve to contribute towards biodiversity measures.
3.5.28 Compliance with Policy 10, SPD Policies and The Framework is achieved.
3.5.29 Summary
This report assesses the full planning application for the residential
development of land to the rear of the St. Barnabas Warehouse, Watery Lane,
Darwen. In considering the proposal, a wide range of material considerations
have been taken into account to inform a balanced recommendation that is
considered to demonstrate compliance with the Local Development Plan and
The Framework, in support of the Council’s strategic growth objectives;
central to which is the borough’s housing needs.

Page 47

4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Delegated authority is given to the Director for Growth and Development to
approve planning permission, subject to conditions which relate to the
following matters:
 Commence within 3 years
 Submission of materials relating to window headers, sills and frames
 Submission of boundary treatments
 Submission of a landscaping scheme
 Foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems
 Submission of highway infrastructure engineering details including vehicle
crossing construction
 Submission of a Construction Management Statement
 Visibility splays not to be obstructed by any building, wall, fence, tree, shrub
or other device exceeding 1m above crown level of the adjacent highway
 Contaminated land - submission of detailed proposals for site investigation
 Contaminated land – submission of validation report demonstrating
effective remediation
 Unexpected contamination
 Limited hours of construction:
08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays
09:00 to 13:00 Saturdays
Not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays
 Development in accordance with submitted details / drawing nos.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/11/0053 - Conversion of existing building (formerly St Barnabas Old
School) into 10no. apartments and the erection of 4no. terraced houses.
Approved under delegated powers.

6.0

CONSULTATIONS
Public Protection
No objection subject to conditions:

6.1.1 Air Quality
- Provision of a dedicated electric vehicle charging point at all dwellings.
- Limitation of gas powered boiler types to control emissions.
6.1.2 Contaminated Land
- Submission of detailed proposals for site investigations.
- Submission of validation of remedial measures.

Page 48

-

Unexpected contamination.

6.2

Environmental Services
Bin storage query.

6.3

Highways Authority
Objection offered based on inadequate off-street parking provision; on street
capacity at a limit and highway safety.

6.4

Strategic Housing
Principle accepted subject to demonstrable demand and policy compliance.

6.5

Public consultation has taken place, with 53 letters posted to neighbouring
addresses and display of three site notices on 26th September 2019. In
response, 5 objections were received which are shown within the summary
below. In addition, an objection has been received from the Ward Councillor,
as summarised in Section 9.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Nick Blackledge – Planner, Development
Management.

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 7th November 2019.

Page 49

9.0

Summary of Representations

Councillor Colin Rigby, 13th September 2019:
This appears to be overdevelopment of the site. There is minimal information
available, it is not possible to comment without the necessary information
Objection – Mrs Rebecca Cooper, Barnabas House, Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec –
30/09/2019

Page 50

Objection – Keith Bailey, 94 Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec – 27/09/2019

Objection – Sheila Singleton. Rec – 27/09/2019

Page 51

Objection – Mrs Janette Cocker, 16 Kirkdale Close, Blackburn. Rec – 18/09/2019

Objection – Lynn Holden, 84 Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec – 15/09/2019

Page 52

Agenda Item 4.3
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0843

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for; proposed development
of 6no. three bedroom dwellings.
Site address:
Land to the Rear of St Barnabas Warehouse
Watery Lane
Darwen
BB3 2EB
Applicant: Milltom Builders Ltd
Ward: West Pennine
Councillor: Colin Rigby
Councillor: Jean Rigby
Councillor: Julie Slater

1

Recreation Ground

64

Play Area

T
RS
U
H
W
DE

FB

T
EE
R
ST
3

2

74

84

14

194.7m

24

3

LA
N
E
W
A
TE
R
Y

N
SO
N
LI
W
RA

Su
St b
a

El

92

Water

94

Ba
rn
Ho aba
us s
e

11

BA
34
LM
O
RA
L
RO
AD

ET
RE
ST
15

ST
21

S
A
AB
N
AR
B

98
10
0

ET
RE
ST

198.0m

1

6

3

L
A
R
O
LM
A
B

S
EN
D
R
A
G

12

1

19

14

11
2

1

2

T
RS
U
H
W
E
D

St
Ba
rna
Ch bas'
urc
h

1

1

14
22

E
U
EN
AV

13

28

D
EL
FI
R
TE
A
W

2

SE
CLO
SBY
CRO

Page 53

12

TT
O
LI
EL

E
U
EN
V
A

SE
O
CL

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions; as set out in paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The application is presented to Committee under the Chair Referral Scheme;
due to public objections received.

2.2

The proposal is in the form of a full planning application. Assessment of the
submitted detail establishes that the proposal corresponds with the Council’s
overarching housing growth strategy; as set out in the Development Plan
(comprising Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2). It suitably demonstrates
delivery of a high quality development that would make an important
contribution towards the Council’s housing delivery target, adding to the
vitality of the local housing market. Moreover, from a technical point of view,
all issues have been addressed through the planning application or are
capable of being controlled or mitigated through planning conditions.

2.3

Members are advised of a previous approval in 2013, for conversion of the
former St Barnabas School building into 10no. apartment’s erection of 4no.
terraced houses. This application was not implemented. The current
application seeks permission for 6no. houses, whilst a separate application
seeks permission for conversion of the former school building into. 8no.
apartments (ref: 10/19/0842).
Both applications correspond with the
application sites assessed in 2013. Assessment of this application, having
regard to amenity, is considered in the context of both applications. Members
are further advised of the applicant’s statement that the viability of both
schemes are mutually dependant on each other.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site is essentially rectangular in shape, featuring a very
gradual rise in land levels from north west to south east. It measures circa
595 square metres in area and consists of a car park that served the former
St. Barnabas School which fronts Watery Lane, Darwen. The site has most
recently been used as a car park and servicing area associated with a retail
furniture shop (Use Class A1) operating out of the former school building. The
shop recently closed down and the site is now recognised as redundant.
Vehicular access is currently taken from Rawlinson Street to the north east.
Although the site address refers to St Barnabas Warehouse, Watery Lane,
Members are advised that the proposed dwellings will front Balmoral Road.
3.1.2 In accordance with the Development Plan, the site is located within Darwen’s
outer urban area. To the north of Watery Lane is an area allocated as Green

Page 54

Infrastructure. The area is predominantly residential, characterised by a mix
of terraced and semi-detached dwellings.
Of note is the recent
redevelopment of the former Balmoral Mill site on Balmoral Road, located to
the south east of the site. The development consists of 27 semi-detached
homes and was delivered by the developer proposing the scheme subject to
this assessment.
3.1.3 The site is well served by the local road network, and access to local
amenities and public transport links along the A666 are within a reasonable
walking distance. Darwen town centre, a short distance away, offers frequent
services for commuters to destinations including but not limited to
Manchester, Bolton, Clitheroe and Preston.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 As set out in the submitted drawings, the proposal is a full planning application
for the erection of 6no. terraced dwellings with dedicated outdoor amenity
space and parking. They will be laid out in linear form, fronting Balmoral Road
and follow the pattern of the terraced row to the north west. Access will be
taken from the existing point off Rawlinson Street and a proposed point off
Barnabas Street. Two dedicated parking spaces will be provided to the rear
of each dwelling.
3.2.2 The dwellings will provide accommodation over 3 floors and will include 3no.
bedrooms. Each dwelling will have a footprint of 128 square metres.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 Core Strategy






CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
CS5 - Locations for New Housing
CS6 – Housing Targets
CS7 – Types of Housing
CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

3.3.3 Local Plan Part 2









Policy 1 – The Urban Boundary
Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8 – Development and People
Policy 9 – Development and the Environment
Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11 – Design
Policy 12 – Developer Contributions
Policy 18 – Housing Mix

Page 55


3.4

Policy 19 Apartment Development and Houses in Multiple Occupation

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
This document provides targeted advice to ensure high quality new homes. It
aims to ensure that new development reflects the individual and collective
character of areas of the Borough and promotes high standards of design.
The document also seeks to ensure a good relationship between existing and
proposed development in terms of protecting and enhancing amenity.
3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) (2019):
The Framework sets out the government’s aims and objectives against which
planning policy and decision making should be considered. The following
sections of the Framework are considered relevant to assessment of the
proposal:




3.5

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 11 – Making effective use of land
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

Assessment

3.5.1 In assessing this full application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows:






Principle of residential development;;
Amenity;
Environment;
Highways;
Design;

3.5.2 Principle
The principle of the development is considered under the Blackburn with
Darwen Development Plan; particularly Policies CS1, CS5, CS6 and CS7 of
the Core Strategy and Policies 1, 7, 18 and 19 of Local Plan part 2.
3.5.3 The site lies within Darwen’s defined Urban Boundary but is otherwise
unallocated. Policy CS1 sets out that development will be concentrated within
the urban area. Policy CS5 is also relevant to the proposed development.
Firstly, it identifies a need for development to be in sustainable locations and
preferably in the inner urban area, in order to help stimulate economic change
and support overall levels of housing delivery. Policy CS5 has a target
requirement of 65% of all new housing to be constructed on previously
developed sites. Although outside of the preferred location for new housing
within the defined Inner Urban Area, Policy CS5 also directs that new housing
will take place in accessible locations elsewhere within the urban area.

Page 56

Accordingly, the proposal is consistent with this policy requirement and with
the Core Strategy’s overarching aims and objectives of achieving economic
gain through new development and of promoting new house building within
the urban areas of Blackburn and Darwen. Moreover, the principle of
redeveloping the site for housing is previously accepted by a permission
granted in 2013, details of which are set out at paragraph 5.1.
3.5.4 Policies CS7 and 18 promote a wider choice of housing. The proposal offers
family sized houses, albeit of a terraced typology inconsistent with the
preferred mix of detached and semi-detached.
Regardless, the sites
constraints and the pre-existing terraced form common to the area, directs
that the proposal is acceptable. Weight is also attached to the positive
contribution that redevelopment of the redundant site will have on the locality,
considered in the context of The Framework’s positive emphasis on making
effective use of land.
3.5.5 Accordingly, the principle of the development is accepted, insofar as it is
consistent with Council’s housing strategy, as set out in the Development
Plan, and The Framework’s presumption in favour of sustainable
development, which should proceed without delay, unless impacts which
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of a proposal are
identified; subject to assessment of the following matters:
3.5.6 Amenity
Policy 8 requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for
surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with
reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance,
privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between buildings.
3.5.7 The submitted layout is considered in context with the application for the
apartment conversion to the rear, with regard to separation standards.
Separation between principle windows to the rear of the proposed dwellings
and principle windows to the rear of the existing dwelling at no. 94 Watery
Lane achieves an acceptable separation of 21.5m. Such separation is
deemed acceptable, notwithstanding the proposed three storeys, on account
of the dormer extension to rear of no. 94 affecting a mutually consistent
relationship, and also having regard to pre-existing terraced separation
common in the locality.
3.5.8 Separation between the proposed ground floor bedroom of plot no. 1 and
directly opposing apartment lounge windows in the rear elevation achieves a
sub-standard separation of 14m. As the lounge benefits from windows to both
side elevations, it is considered appropriate to secure non-opening and
obscure glazed units to the rear windows; to be applied to the apartment
permission (assessed under a separate application), to overcome the issue.
Separation between the ground floor bedroom window to plot no. 4 and
opposing apartment lounge windows in the rear elevation is also sub-standard
at 16.5m. Non-opening and obscure glazed units to these windows is also
considered appropriate to overcome the issue, on account of alternative nonobscure windows serving the room within the side elevations. Such obscure

Page 57

glazed and non-opening units will be secured by condition. Further, it should
be recognised that the existing terrace pattern of development features a
similar sub-standard separation. Separation between the dwellings and the
apartments at ground floor is otherwise acceptable; as in accordance with
those directed by the Residential Design Guide SPD.
3.5.9 Separation between principle widows to the rear of the dwellings at first and
second floor and principle windows to the rear of the apartments is achieved
by means of an angled outrigger which features windows facing into each
property; thereby avoiding conflict with principle apartment windows. Any
overlooking created by proposed first floor balcony to the rear of the dwellings,
in the form of a balcony, will be mitigated by the aforementioned obscure
glazed, non-opening windows and balustrades; the material of which will be
secured by condition.
3.5.10 Outdoor amenity space is provided in the form of the aforementioned first floor
roof terrace / balcony. Bin storage is provided at ground level to the
immediate rear of each dwelling, forward of the car parking spaces, covered
by the first floor overhang. Such provision is considered sufficient to service
householder’s needs.
3.5.11 Sub-surface ground conditions can be appropriately addressed by application
of the Council’s standard contaminated land conditions; as recommended by
Public protection.
3.5.12 Air quality mitigation can be secured by condition, by means of requiring
provision of electric vehicle charging points for each property and control of
boiler emissions. These measures will contribute towards mitigation of air
quality impact; in accordance with the Council’s Guidance Document Air
Quality Planning Advice Note, and the recently revised Planning Practice
Guidance on Air Quality.
3.5.13 A degree of disturbance during construction phase of the development is
recognised as inevitable. Such disturbance is, however, temporary and
considered acceptable, subject to application of a condition limiting hours of
construction and for works to be undertaken in accordance with a submitted
Demolition / Construction Method Statement, in order to secure appropriate
noise and vibration protection during construction works.
3.5.14 Accordingly, on balance, the development is considered compliant with the
safeguarding amenity objectives of the Development Plan and The
Framework.
3.5.15 Environment
Policy 9 requires that development will not have an unacceptable impact on
environmental assets or interests, including but limited to climate change
(including flood risk), green infrastructure, habitats, species, water quality and
resources, trees and the efficient use of land.

Page 58

3.5.16 Drainage
United Utilities and the Council Drainage consultee require conditions to
deliver an appropriate surface water drainage scheme and for foul and
surface water to be drained on separate systems.
3.5.17 Trees
The site hosts a number of semi mature self-seeded trees, along the Balmoral
Road boundary. The trees offer low amenity value and the site in general is
low in ecological value. Delivery of a landscaping scheme to provide
replanting will be secured by condition.
3.5.18 Highways / Accessibility / Transport
Policy 10 requires that road safety and the safe, efficient and convenient
movement of all highway users is not prejudiced, and that appropriate
provision is made for off street servicing and parking in accordance with the
Council’s adopted standards.
3.5.19 A Transport Statement is submitted in support of the application. The
Statement considers this application site and that of the conversion;
assessment of which is covered in the corresponding Committee Report
(10/19/0842). 2no. dedicated off street parking spaces are to be provided to
the rear of each property which are accepted as sufficient by the Council’s
highways consultee; in accordance with adopted standards.
3.5.20 Vehicular access points into the parking spaces will be taken from a new
access from Barnabas Street and an existing access from Rawlinson Street.
Formally constructed vehicular crossings will be required; preferably in the
form of dropped crossing points. Full technical details will be secured by
condition.
3.5.21 In the absence of available evidence to the contrary, impact on the safety and
efficiency of the surrounding highway network is not considered to be
adversely affected.
3.5.22 The site is otherwise recognised for its sustainable location, benefitting from
pedestrian links to the nearby A666, a range of local amenities and Whitehall
Park. Moreover, the A666 offers direct bus routes into Darwen, Bolton and
Blackburn town centres.
3.5.23 Design / Character and Appearance
Policy 11 requires a good standard of design and will be expected to enhance
and reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an
understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to
the local area.
3.5.24 Layout of the development follows the linear pattern fronting Balmoral Road,
though the build line will feature a modest circa 400mm stagger. As three
story properties, ridge and eave height will be circa 1m higher than the

Page 59

existing terraced row to the east along Balmoral Road, though 0.5m lower
than those approved in 2013. The proposal will introduce an individual
grouping, physically detached from the existing row. Moreover, as the
immediate area features a range of house types of various scale and design,
it will not appear out of character. Indeed influence is taken from the
traditional terraced form common to the area and the more contemporary
elements of the adjacent redeveloped Balmoral Mill site.
3.5.25 External walling and roofing materials, including the balcony balustrades, will
be secured by condition.
3.5.26 Summary
This report assesses the full planning application for the residential
development of land to the rear of the St. Barnabas Warehouse, Watery Lane,
Darwen. In considering the proposal, a wide range of material considerations
have been taken into account to inform a balanced recommendation that is
considered to demonstrate compliance with the Local Development Plan and
The Framework, in support of the Council’s strategic growth objectives;
central to which is the borough’s housing needs.

4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Delegated authority is given to the Director for Growth and Development to
approve planning permission, subject to conditions which relate to the
following matters:
 Commence within 3 years
 Submission of external walling and roofing materials
 Submission of boundary treatments
 Submission of landscaping scheme
 Foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems
 Submission of a surface water drainage scheme
 Submission of highway infrastructure engineering details including vehicle
crossing construction
 Submission of a Construction Management Statement
 Visibility splays not to be obstructed by any building, wall, fence, tree, shrub
or other device exceeding 1m above crown level of the adjacent highway
 Contaminated land - submission of detailed proposals for site investigation
 Contaminated land – submission of validation report demonstrating
effective remediation
 Unexpected contamination
 Provision of air quality mitigation in the form of dedicated motor vehicle
electric charging points and boiler emissions
 Submission of dust suppression scheme
 Limited hours of construction:
08:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays
09:00 to 13:00 Saturdays
Not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays
 Permitted Development Rights to be removed

Page 60

 Development in accordance with submitted details / drawing nos.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/11/0053 - Conversion of existing building (formerly St Barnabas Old
School) into 10no. apartments and the erection of 4no. terraced houses.
Approved under delegated powers.

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Drainage Section
No objection subject to conditions requiring submission of surface water
construction phase management plan and surface water drainage schemes.

6.2

Public Protection
No objection subject to conditions:

6.2.1 Air Quality
- Provision of a dedicated electric vehicle charging point at all dwellings.
- Limitation of gas powered boiler types to control emissions.
6.2.2 Contaminated Land
- Submission of detailed proposals for site investigations.
- Submission of validation of remedial measures.
- Unexpected contamination.
6.3

Environmental Services
No response offered.

6.4

Highways Authority
No objection subject to conditions:
- Submission of technical detail of vehicle crossover points.
- Construction Method Statement.

6.5

Strategic Housing
No objection.

6.6

United Utilities
No objection subject to conditions:
- Separate foul and surface water drainage systems
- Submission of a surface water drainage scheme.

6.7

Lancashire Fire Service
Standard advice offered.

6.8

Public consultation has taken place, with 53 letters posted to neighbouring
addresses and display of three site notices on 26th September 2019. In
response, 7 objections were received which are shown within the summary

Page 61

below. In addition, an objection has been received from the Ward Councillor,
as summarised in Section 9.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Nick Blackledge – Planner, Development
Management.

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 7th November 2019.

Page 62

9.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Councillor Colin Rigby, 13th September 2019:
Clearly over development, especially when considered with planning
application 10/19/0842.

Objection – K. Shaw, Knowlesly Road, Darwen. Rec – 12/09/2019

Objection – Lynn Holden, 84 Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec – 15/09/2019

Page 63

Objection – Mrs Janette Cocker, 16 Kirkdale Close, Darwen. Rec – 18/09/2019

Objection – Paul & Pauline Dargan, 3 Waterfield Avenue, Darwen. Rec – 21/09/2019

Objection – Sheila Singleton. Rec – 27/09/2019

Page 64

Objection – Keith Bailey, 94 Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec – 27/09/2019

Page 65

Objection Keith Bailey, 94 Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec – 18/10/2019

Page 66

Objection – Mrs Rebecca Cooper, Barnabas House, Watery Lane, Darwen. Rec –
30/09/2019

Page 67

Agenda Item 4.4
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0939

Proposed development: Variation of Condition No.10 pursuant to planning application
10/19/0574 -"Demolition of outbuildings, conversion of barn to provide an extension to
Brownlow Farmhouse, erection of attached garage, and construction of new footpath, road
frontage wall and electric gates and retention of porch." - Addition of 5 rooflights and height of
the proposed house raised to be in line with the adjoining barn - Retrospective
Site address:
Brownlow Farm
Pleasington Lane
Pleasington
Blackburn
BB2 5JE
Applicant: Mr Bretherton
Ward: Livesey with Pleasington
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Derek Hardman
John Pearson
Paul Marrow
MP 0.25

Brownlow House

ay
Railw
l
Hote

Bowling
Green

Pleasington Lodge

(PH)

Pond

nlow
Brow
e
Lodg

LB

1

Track
e
mer
Oak

es
Tre
Mickle Ridge

11

6

ce
Terra
nlow
Brow

rry
Che

rm

Fa
nlow
Brow

T he Elms

Club House
ROW
CH B
ENO

Clovey
Cottage
Lymore

99.1m
E
ROS

Rose
Hill Farm

Whiteholme
Rosslyn

El Sub Sta
The Beeches

Hawthorns
Beverley

Page 68

OAD
LR
HIL

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – subject to the recommended conditions set out in section
5.0 of this report.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This application is presented to the Committee through the Chair Referral
process in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation as the works are
retrospective and the Parish Council has objected to the scheme. A summary
of the comments is set out in section 7 below. The assessment relating to
the current proposal relates to whether the alterations carried out in terms of
the additional rooflights and raising the height of the proposed dwelling will
have a significant harmful impact on the host property and the immediate
surroundings.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site relates to an existing farmhouse with an attached barn
located on the east side of Pleasington Lane. The site is located within the
village boundary of Pleasington on land designated as Green Belt.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Planning permission was granted under planning application 10/19/0574 on
the 22nd August 2019, for the demolition of existing outbuildings and the
conversion of the attached barn to provide an extension to Brownlow
Farmhouse. The works also proposed to retain the porch and to erect an
attached garage and create a new footpath and road frontage wall with
electric gates.
3.2.2 This application seeks to vary condition No. 10 pursuant to planning application
10/19/0574 to substitute approved plans to include the raising of the ridge
height of the farmhouse to be aligned with the ridge of the attached barn and
the insertion of 5 rooflights.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Local Plan Part 2 (2015) (LPP2)
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11: Design

Page 69

3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Residential Design Guide SPD
This document provides targeted advice to ensure high quality new homes. It
aims to ensure that new development reflects the individual and collective
character of areas of the Borough and promotes high standards of design.
The document also seeks to ensure a good relationship between existing and
proposed development in terms of protecting and enhancing.
3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) is a material
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework sets out a presumption in
favour of sustainable development in Paragraph 7, which is the “golden
thread” running through both plan-making and decision-taking. It identifies in
Paragraph 8 that there are three overarching objectives to sustainable
development. These are Economic, Social and Environmental.
Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains that for decision making, this means
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay.
4.0

Assessment

4.1.1 When assessing this application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account. They are as follows:




Principle;
Visual Amenities/Design; and
Residential Amenity

4.1.2 Principle
4.1.3 The principle of the development was established under planning application
reference 10/19/0574.
4.1.4 Visual Amenities/Design
4.1.5 Policy 11 of the LPP2 requires that the design, scale, massing and external
appearance of the development should harmonise with the existing buildings
and should not have an adverse impact upon the character of the streetscene.
4.1.6 The raising of the farmhouse ridge results in a continued ridge line with the
adjacent barn, which is more in-keeping with the predominant style and form
in the immediate area. It is therefore considered that the raise in the ridge
height would not unacceptably affect the character of the street scene.

Page 70

4.1.7 It is for the above reasoning that it is considered that the proposed
development would not result in any harm to the appearance of the host
dwelling or the surrounding area and would accord with LPP2 Policy 11 and
the Residential Design Guide.
4.1.8 Policy 8, supplemented by Residential Design Guide Policies, requires the
development to secure a satisfactory level of amenity to occupants of
surrounding properties, with regard to loss of light, privacy/overlooking and
relationship between buildings.
4.1.9 With regards to the potential impact on the residential amenity of the
occupiers of nearby dwellings, the proposed development would have no
greater impact than the previously approved scheme.
4.1.10 The approved details incorporated the change of use of the barn to create
additional habitable space for the farmhouse. The amendments to the roof
form, the subject of the current application, raises the ridge height of the
farmhouse which is the front element of the proposal. Therefore, the barn
ridge height which is closest to the neighbouring dwelling Mickle Ridge
remains unaltered. As such, it is considered that the proposal would have no
greater impact.
4.1.11 The original consent granted permission for the insertion of 3 rooflights to the
front elevation and 1 to the rear. Subsequently, the applicant has inserted 6 to
the front and 3 to the rear. The rooflights present on the front elevation face
towards the boundary the application site shares with The Elms, further to this
they would not be visible from the main highway.
4.1.12 The rooflights present on the rear elevation would face north westerly. The
objection letter received (refer to paragraph 11 below), makes reference to the
rooflights resulting in direct overlooking and a loss of privacy. Given the
orientation of the application property the rooflights would have a negligible
impact upon the amenity of the neighbouring property Mickle Ridge. Further to
this the application properties and the properties sited on the western side of
Brownlow Terrace are sited over 30m away.
4.1.13 Taking into consideration Policy RES E3 which deals with separation
distances that states a distance of 21m should be maintained between
habitable to habitable windows, it is considered that there is sufficient distance
between the rooflights and the windows of the properties present on Brownlow
Terrace. Further to this, the rooflights would have no greater impact than the
first floor window openings which are present on the building.

Page 71

4.1.14 The proposal therefore accords with Policy 8 of the LPP2 and the residential
design guide.
4.1.15 The agent has confirmed that the ridge height of the barn has not been
altered, the tiles have been removed and re-laid but no other works have
occurred raising the ridge height of the barn as per the objectors letter.
5.0

CONCLUSION

5.1

Taking into account the above, the granting of the development does not
result in any significant harm to the character and appearance of the existing
dwelling or the surrounding area nor does it cause any significant harm to the
amenity of neighbouring residents.

6.0

RECOMMENDATION: Approve subject to Conditions which relate to the
following matters:



Plans - This consent relates to the submitted details received on 30th
September 2019 labelled ‘Proposed Plan – Ref: 001 – Revision: -.’ and any
subsequent amendments approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To clarify the terms of this consent.



INFORMATIVE: Please note that any conditions which have not yet been
discharged and/or varied on planning approval 10/18/0574 require discharge
from this decision notice and are still considered relevant

7.0

PLANNING HISTORY
10/19/0574 - Demolition of outbuildings, conversion of barn to provide an
extension to Brownlow Farmhouse, erection of attached garage, and
construction of new footpath, road frontage wall and electric gates and
retention of porch – granted 22nd August 2019 under delegated powers.
10/19/0274 – Agricultural Prior Notification - Agricultural building for storage of
agricultural machinery and vehicles. Prior Approval not required – 23rd April
2019.
10/19/0273 – Demolition Prior Notification - Demolition of 4 buildings. Prior
Approval not required – 29th May 2019.

8.0

CONSULTATIONS

8.1

12 neighbouring properties were consulted by letter and 1 letter of objection
was received (see section 11). The comments are summarised below:



The height of the barn has also been increased without planning
permission
Rooflights have resulted in a loss of privacy – views into and out of
neighbouring property are occurring

Page 72




8.2

The heightened roof is dominant in the landscape
The rooflights are not in-keeping with the original building
Detrimental to the historical character of Pleasington.

The Parish Council on the 31st October 2019 also objected to the proposed
development on the following grounds:
Pleasington Parish Council has objections to this amended application. In the
opinion of the Council the raising of the roof height on the farmhouse to match
the adjoining barn adversely affects the character of this very old building.
The Council also have concerns that the height of the barn roof has already
been increased without permission.

9.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Rebecca Halliwell - Planner

10.0

DATE PREPARED: 6th November 2019

Page 73

11.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Jane Green, address unknown – 24th October 2019

Page 74

Page 75

Agenda Item 5

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 76

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 79

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 80

